Public Document Pack
Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 19th November, 2020
6.30 pm
Virtual
Join Meeting Here
AGENDA
1.

Welcome and Apologies

2.

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
Minutes of Previous Meeting

3.

Declaration of Interest
Declaration of Interest Form

Materials Considerations
4.

34 - 50

51 - 82

Planning Application 20/0459
1A Church Bank Street, Vacant Land to NE (side) of Cin
Cin, Darwen, BB3 3HA

4.5

14 - 33

Planning Application 20/0453
The Arches Cafe, 581-583 Preston Old Road, Blackburn,
BB2 5HD

4.4

12 - 13

Planning Application 20/0415
8 Church Street, Darwen, BB3 2RE

4.3

10 - 11

Planning Application 19/1229
HGV Garage to the rear of Perseverance Mill, Olive
Lane, Darwen, BB3 3DQ

4.2

9

Planning Applications for Determination
Committee Agenda

4.1

3-8

83 - 118

Planning Application 20/0464
Wayoh Barn, Blackburn Road, Edgworth, BL7 0PZ

119 136

5.

Petition regarding Full Planning Application for the
proposed erection of four number dwelling houses,
made up of two semi-detached properties on vacant
land off Accrington Road, Blackburn
To inform Members of the receipt of the petition received
relating to the above planning application.
Report

6.

137 138

Swan Farm Close - Claim Footpath Rights
Claim a new footpath from Swan Farm Close
Committee Report
Assessment of Case Swan Farm Close
Appendix 1
Appendix 2
Appendix 2.2
Appendix 2.3-1
Appendix 2.3-2
Appendix 2.3-3
Appendix 3

139 243

Date Published: Wednesday, 11 November 2020
Denise Park, Chief Executive

Agenda Item 2

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE
Thursday, 15 October 2020

PRESENT – Councillors, David Smith (Chair), Akhtar, Z Khan, Khonat,
Hardman, Slater, Jan-Virmani, Oates, Riley, Browne, Harling and Marrow.
OFFICERS – Gavin Prescott, Rabia Saghir and Shannon Gardiner
RESOLUTIONS
17

Welcome and Apologies
The Chair welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting.
Apologies were received from Cllr Jim Casey.

18

Minutes of the Previous Meeting
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the previous meeting held on 15th July 2020
be confirmed and signed as a correct record.

19

Declaration of Interest
RESOLVED – There were no Declarations of Interest received.

20

Planning Applications for Determination
The Committee considered reports of the Director of Growth and Development
detailing the planning application.
In considering the applications, the Committee took into account
representations or submissions provided by individuals with the Officers
answering points raised during discussion thereon.

20.1

Planning Application 10/18/1097
Applicant – Blackburn Waterside Regeneration Ltd
Location and Proposed Development – Phase 1B Former Sappi Paper Mill,
Livesey Branch Road, Feniscowles, Blackburn, BB2 5HX
Reserved Matters Application for Reserved Matters Application (access within
the site, landscape, layout, appearance, scale) pursuant to outline 10/15/0496
for Phase 1b comprising of 141 dwellings and associated infrastructure
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report

20.2

Planning Application 10/20/0434
Speaker – Mr H Khan (The Applicant)

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 3

Applicant – Mr H Khan
Location and Proposed Development – Land to the rear of 29 Greenhead
Avenue.
Full Planning Application for use as garden (retrospective).
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report and Update Report
20.3

Planning Application 10/20/0511
Speaker – Ms Louise Leyland (Agent)
Applicant – Mr and Mrs Hood
Location and Proposed Development – Fir Trees, Green Arms Road,
Turton, BL7 0NA
Proposed detached garage and relocation of gate
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report

20.4

Planning Application 10/20/0625
Speaker – Mr Kenneth Warner (Applicant)
Applicant – Mr Kenneth Warner
Location and Proposed Development – Land Adjacent Hob Lane Farm,
Blackburn Road, Edgworth, Bolton, BL7 0PU
Full planning application for form new access/re-open former access onto
Blackburn Road
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report

20.5

Planning Application 10/20/0720
Speaker – Mr Paul Sedgwick (Agent)
Applicant – Mr John Pimblett
Location and Proposed Development – 230 Chapeltown Road, Edgworth,
Bolton, BL7 9AN

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 4

Full Planning Application for Demolition of existing garages, utility room and
store and erection of two storey dormer extension to provide quadruple
garage, workshop, utility room and kitchen extension with additional bedroom
accommodation at first floor level together with change of use of 4 m2 of land
outside the curtilage of the existing garden (Green belt) to residential
Decision under Town and Country Planning Acts and Regulations –
RESOLVED – Approved subject to the conditions highlighted in the Director’s
Report
21

Infrastructure Funding Statement 2019/20 and Update to S106 Process
Members were updated on the recently published Infrastructure Funding
Statement for 2019/20, for Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council, and how
the Council will begin to add a monitoring fee to any s106 agreement
associated with planning applications received from 1st October 2020.
The Community Infrastructure Levy (Amendment) (England) (No.2)
Regulations 2019 now requires authorities (from December 2020) to prepare
an Infrastructure Funding Statement (IFS) to set out their annual income and
expenditure relating to section 106 agreements.
Blackburn with Darwen’s 2019-20 IFS provides a summary of financial
contributions the Council has secured through section 106 agreements from
new developments for off-site infrastructure works and affordable housing, in
addition to highway works completed as part of new developments through
section 278 agreements within the 2019-20 monitoring period. It also includes
information on the infrastructure works funded through s106 contributions.
In summary, the report provides:
 an overview of s106 and s278 agreements;
 the Council’s internal process relating to s106 contributions;
 information on the introduction of monitoring fees;
 the s106 contributions paid to the Council in the 2019/20 monitoring
period;
 s106 contributions and s278 works estimated for future years; and
 projects delivered in the Borough via s106 and s278 agreements in the
2019/20 monitoring period.
The information included in the report is updated annually and published on
the Council’s website. This will ensure the most up to date information on the
amount of developer contributions received from new developments, in
addition to information on where these monies have been spent is readily
available to members of the public and other interested parties. The report
does not include information on the infrastructure delivered on site as part of
new developments in the borough.
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.

22

Appeals Monitoring Report

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 5

Members were updated on the recently decided appeals since the last
monitoring report in October 2019. It was noted that 9 no appeals in total
were determined during the period 18th October 2019 to 2nd October 2020
and 7 no appeals were dismissed, and two appeals were allowed.
With regards to the appeals allowed by the Inspectorate, and the reasons
provided, these have been duly considered in detail by officers, and have been
incorporated in the decision making culture as part of the Planning Service’s
Performance Improvement Plan, in order to reduce the number of appeals,
and subsequently the number of appeals allowed.
RESOLVED – That the report be noted.
23

Diversion of Public Footpath's 25,26,27,28 and 31 (part) Blackburn
To seek committee approval for a public path order under the Town & Country
Planning Act 1990, Section 257 to divert public footpaths 25,26,27,28 and
31(part) Blackburn
On the 14th February 2019, the Council granted planning permission for a
residential development off Ramsgreave Drive in Blackburn (Application
10/18/0895)
Public Footpaths 25,26,27,28 and 31 Blackburn cross the development site
and in order that the development can be implemented as per the planning
approval, it is necessary that sections of these public footpaths be diverted.
The Council has received an application from the developer, Persimmon
Homes, to divert the footpaths affected.
Under the Council’s Constitution this Committee has ‘The power to create,
divert, stop up, extinguish and reclassify footpaths and bridleways and the
power to make orders and enter agreements in relation to the same’
The Committee therefore has to consider whether, or not, to promote the
Order requested by the applicants. In order to assist members in making this
decision, officers have prepared a detailed report with the necessary
information to enable an informed decision to be made.
RESOLVED - To Promote the Order and authorise the Director of HR, Legal,
and Governance to progress the necessary legal orders.

24

Planning White Paper "Planning For The Future" - Summary Of The
Issues And Blackburn With Darwen Borough Council's Response To
The Ministry Of Housing, Communities & Local Government
Consultation - Planning For The Future - White Paper, August 2020
The Members were informed of the main changes proposed with the White
Paper, and the Council’s response and views on the Government’ proposals to
overhaul the planning system.
On the 6th August 2020, the Government published the White Paper “Planning
For the Future”, which sets out a wide-ranging package of proposals to reform
the planning system. The Government stated that the consultation seeks the
views on each part of a package of proposals for reform of the planning

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 6

system in England, to streamline and modernise the planning process,
improve outcomes on design and sustainability, reform developer
contributions, and ensure more land is available for development where it is
needed.
The Government’s White Paper proposes a radical and ambitious overhaul of
the English planning system, intended to streamline the planning process. It
sets out key principles for a new system, which is likely to involve new primary
legislation. Key areas of change were focussed on the following:







Plan making
Development Management
Community Engagement
Design
Digital
Stricter Timeframes

The consultation will be for 12 weeks, and closes on Thursday 29th October
2020. This report provides an overview of the proposals set out in the White
Paper, and the proposed responses to the main questions set around the
proposal.
There are 22 specific proposals set in three areas, which are known as
“Pillars”, with a series of questions relating to the proposal. The report will
focus on the main questions.
RESOLVED –
1. That the issues within the report be noted
2. That the Members approved the proposed responses to the questions
raised in the consultation document and sent to the Ministry of Housing,
Communities and Local Government by 29th October 2020
25

Validation Requirements for Planning Applications – Major planning
applications and Sustainable Drainage requirements
Members were requested to agree and recommend that the list of
requirements for the submission of planning applications be amended as
detailed in the agenda report, in order to ensure that Blackburn with Darwen
has an up-to-date formally adopted scheme with reference to recent policy
changes.
The Council was required to keep an up-to-date list of the requirements for the
validation of planning applications known as the Local Validation Checklist. It
was last reviewed on the 18th October 2019. Since the adoption of the latest
lists, there have been no changes, which would require a full review of the list
until October 2021.
In July 2020, the need for all major developments, and developments within
Critical Drainage Areas to be supported was introduced. The measures
reinforced existing national sustainable drainage requirements and any
relevant developments now cannot be lawfully validated without meeting those
requirements.

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 7

RESOLVED – That Members support the proposed change to the Local
Validation Checklist
26

Enforcement - Land at Weasel Lane (Kiln Bank) Tockholes, Darwen
A report was submitted seeking authorisation to take enforcement action
against all persons having an interest in land at Weasel Lane (Kiln Bank)
Tockholes, Darwen.
Background information including grounds for the request were outlined in the
report.
RESOLVED – Authorisation was given to the proposed enforcement action to
remove the unauthorised residential use.

Signed: ………………………………………………….
Date: …………………………………………………….
Chair of the meeting
at which the minutes were confirmed

Planning and Highways Committee
Thursday, 15th October, 2020

Page 8

Agenda Item 3
DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST IN
ITEMS ON THIS AGENDA

Members attending a Council, Committee, Board or other
meeting with a personal interest in a matter on the Agenda
must disclose the existence and nature of the interest and, if
it is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest or an Other Interest
under paragraph 16.1 of the Code of Conduct, should leave
the meeting during discussion and voting on the item.
Members declaring an interest(s) should complete this form
and hand it to the Democratic Services Officer at the
commencement of the meeting and declare such an interest
at the appropriate point on the agenda.
MEETING:

PLANNING AND HIGHWAYS COMMITTEE

DATE:
AGENDA ITEM NO.:
DESCRIPTION (BRIEF):
NATURE OF INTEREST:

DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY/OTHER (delete as appropriate)

SIGNED :
PRINT NAME:
(Paragraphs 8 to 17 of the Code of Conduct for Members of the Council refer)

Page 9

X:\Planning & Highways\2017\Misc\Declaration of Interest\Declaration of Interest Form.doc

Material Consideration

“Material Considerations” are not limited to matters relating to amenity and can
cover a range of considerations, in regard to public or private interests, provided that
there is some relationship to the use and development of land.
Where it is decided that a consideration is material to the determination of a planning
application the courts have held that the assessment of weight is a matter for
planning judgement by the planning authority, rather than the court. Materiality is a
matter of law for the Court, weight is for the decision maker. Accordingly it is for the
Committee to assess the weight to be attached to each material consideration, but if
a Council does not take account of a material consideration or takes account of an
immaterial consideration then the decision is vulnerable to challenge in the courts.
By section 38(6) of the Planning & Compensation Act 2004 Act every planning
decision must be taken in accordance with the development plan (taken as a whole)
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The policies and guidance
contained in the hierarchy of planning documents are important material
considerations and the starting point for the Committee in its assessment of
development proposals and most decisions are usually taken in line with them.
However, the Committee is legally obliged to consider all material matters in
determining a planning application and this means that some decisions will not follow
published policy or guidance. In other words, the Committee may occasionally depart
from published policy when it considers this is outweighed by other factors and can
be justified in the circumstances of the particular case. Similarly, in making a
decision where there are competing priorities and policies the Committee must
exercise its judgement in determining the balance of considerations
The following provides a broad guide of what may and may not be material, though
as with any broad guidance there will on occasions be exceptions

MATERIAL:

NOT MATERIAL:

Policy (national, regional & local)

The identity of the applicant

development plans in course of
preparation
Views of consultees
Design
Visual impact
Privacy/overbearing/amenity impacts
Daylight/sunlight

Superceded development plans and
withdrawn guidance
Land ownership
Private Rights (e.g. access)
Restrictive covenants
Property value
Competition (save where it promotes a
vital and viable town centre)
Loss of a private view
“moral issues”
“Better” site or use”
Change from previous scheme
Enforcement issues
The need for the development (in most
circumstances)

Noise, smell, pollution
Access/traffic /accessibility
Health and safety
Ecology, landscape
Fear of Crime
Economic impact & general economic
conditions
Planning history/related decisions

Page 10

Cumulative impact
Need (in some circumstances – e.g. green
belt)
Impacts upon and provision of open/amenity
space
existing use/permitted development rights/fall
back
retention of existing use/heritage issues
fear of setting a precedent
composite or related developments
Off-site benefits which are related to or are
connected with the development
In exceptional circumstances the availability
of alternative sites
Human Rights Act 1998 & Equality
Before deciding a planning application members need to carefully consider an application against the
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998.
Protocol 1 of Article 1, and Article 8 confer(s) a right of respect for a person’s private and family life,
their possessions, home, other land; and business assets.
Article 6, the applicants (and those third parties, including local residents, who have made
representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end the Committee must give full
consideration to their representation, and comments,
In taking account of all material considerations, including Council policy as set out in the Core
Strategy and saved polices of the Unitary Development Plan, the Head of Planning and Transport
has concluded that some rights conferred by these Articles on the applicant(s)/objector(s)/resident(s)
and other occupiers and owners of nearby land that might be affected may be interfered with but that
interference is proportionate, in accordance with the law and justified by being in the public interest
and on the basis of the planning merits of the development proposal. Furthermore he believes that
any restriction on these rights posed by the approval of an application is proportionate to the wider
benefits of approval and that such a decision falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the
Council under the Town and Country Planning Acts.
Other duties have to be taken into account in determining planning applications for example the
promotion of measures to reduce crime, the obligation not to act in a discriminatory manner and
promote equality etc.
NB: Members should also be aware that each proposal is treated on its own merits!
Reasons for Decision
If members decide to go against officer recommendations then it is their responsibility to clearly set
out their reasons for doing so, otherwise members should ask for the application to be deferred in
order that a further report is presented setting out the background to the report, clarifying the reasons
put forward in the debate for overriding the officer recommendation; the implications of the decision
and the effect on policy; what conditions or agreements may be needed; or just to seek further
information.
If Members move a motion contrary to the recommendations then members must give reasons before
voting upon the motion. Alternatively members may seek to defer the application for a further report.
However, if Members move a motion to follows the recommendation but the motion is lost. In these
circumstances then members should be asked to state clearly their reasons for not following the
recommendations or ask that a further report be presented to the next meeting

Page 11

BwD Council - Development Control

Agenda Item 4

General Reporting
REPORT NAME: Committee Agenda.

REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT

LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO INFORMATION) ACT 1985
BACKGROUND PAPERS
There is a file for each planning application containing application forms, consultations,
representations, Case Officer notes and other supporting information.
Gavin Prescott, Development Manager – Ext 5694.

NEIGHBOUR NOTIFICATION: The extent of neighbour notification is shown on the location plans which
accompany each report. Where neighbours are notified by individual letter, their properties are marked
with a dot. Where a site notice has been posted, its position is shown with a cross.
PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DETERMINATION Date: 19/11/2020
Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

Application Type
10/19/1229
PHG Contracting Limited
c/o agent

HGV Garage to the rear of Perseverance Mill Darwen East
Olive Lane
Darwen
BB3 3DQ

Full Planning Application for Change of Use from HGV yard and garage to PHG Contracting Yard with associated workshop/store building and
offices (Sui-Generis)
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/20/0415
Mr G Bird
8 Church Street
Darwen
BB3 2RE

8 Church Street
Darwen
BB3 2RE

Darwen East

Full Planning Application for Alterations to front elevations including change of window frames. Internal alterations to fit out pub/restaurant, new
door opening to accomodate entrance to the rear. Alterations to rear yard to form outdoor decking/lighting and seating along with a bin storage
area.
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/20/0453
Mr Simeon Stuttard
581-583, Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 5HD

The Arches Cafe
581-583 Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 5HD

Livesey With Pleasington

Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material Amendment for Variation of Conditions pursuant to planning application 10/18/0417; no. 1
(Amend Approved Drawings) to seek retrospective permission for the raised decking and fencing to the front of the premises; 3 (Hours of
Opening) to amend the opening hours so that the premises will not open to the public outside the following hours: Monday to Saturday 08:00 to
18:00 hours and on Sundays and Bank Holidays: 10:00-19:00 hours; and removal/ variation of condition no. 6 restricting no more than 8
people at any one time to allow 12-16 seats (3-4 tables) externally.
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 2 minute(s), 19 second(s)

Page 12

Printed by ADMMXI\Katie_Wright on 10/11/2020 15:48:32
Page 1 of 2

Application No
Applicant

Site Address

Ward

1A Church Bank Street
Vacant Land to NE (side) of Cin Cin
Darwen
BB3 3HA

Darwen East

Application Type
10/20/0459
Mr Dominic Holmes
1A Church Bank Street
Darwen
BB3 3HA

Full Planning Application for Change of Use of Vacant land to A4 use Classification including erection
of pergola, shipping container and other associated alterations
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

10/20/0464
Mr John Czutkwona
Wayoh Barn, Blackburn Road
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0PZ

Wayoh Barn
Blackburn Road
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0PZ

West Pennine

Reserved Matters Application for Approval of Reserved Matter for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 5no. dwellings, pursuant to
outline permission 10/18/0183
RECOMMENDATION: Permits

Execution Time: 2 minute(s), 19 second(s)

Page 13

Printed by ADMMXI\Katie_Wright on 10/11/2020 15:48:32
Page 2 of 2

Agenda Item 4.1
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/19/1229

Proposed development: Full Planning Application for Change of Use from HGV
yard and garage to PHG Contracting Yard with associated workshop/store
building and offices (Use Class B2/B8).
Site address:
HGV Garage to the rear of Perseverance Mill, Industry Street
Darwen
BB3 3DQ
Applicant: PHG Contracting Limited
Ward: Darwen East – Councillors Jane Oates; Roy Davies and Paul Browne

Page 14

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions as set out in paragraph 4.1 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1.1 This application is presented to the Committee in accordance with the
Scheme of Delegation, Chair Referral Process, due to a Petition being
received against the proposals, two other neighbour representations being
received and Cllr Roy Davies objecting to the proposals.
2.1.1 The planning history for the site indicates that in 1990 retrospective planning
permission was allowed by the Planning Inspectorate for the continued use of
the building for the repair of commercial vehicles, including, the repair of
HGV’s which had been operating in excess of 20 years.
2.1.2 The proposed use is not too dissimilar. The size of the building and its
inspection pit by its nature limits the number of large articulated lorries using
the building to no more than one at any one time. There is obviously
capability to accommodate smaller vehicles within the site, however, the
number of vehicles would in no way cause significant harm to highway safety.
2.1.3 Given the building has been used for storage purposes only for the last couple
of years, residents have experienced little noise or disturbance from this part
of the site. Planning conditions requiring noise to be limited are therefore
strongly recommended to reduce noise from the proposed uses, in the
interests of the amenity of surrounding residents.
2.1.4 The Government seeks to support a strong, responsive and competitive
economy and retaining one of the boroughs employers, employing 35 local
people, is important to the boroughs economy. Subject to the recommended
conditions, it is recommended that Members support the proposals.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1
Site and Surroundings
3.1.1 The application site relates to a Portal Frame building located within part of
the rear yard area of Perseverance Mill, a substantial sized traditional mill
located on the corner of Olive Lane and Cornfield Street. The building to
which this application relates is accessed from Industry Street.

Page 15

3.1.2 The building is surrounded by terraced properties on Olive Lane attached to
the Mill to the North; properties on Newton Street to the East; residential
dwellings exist on the opposite side of Industry Street, to the South, as does a
property called Cornfield Cliffe, a home for the homeless run by the charity
Nightsafe; and Olive Lane Recreation Ground bordering the West of the site.
3.1.3 Lord Street Children’s Centre exists at the end Industry Street.
3.1.4 The application site is within the boroughs Inner Urban Boundary, as defined
on the Proposals Map associated with the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan
Part 2. The Perseverance Mill site is an unallocated employment site.
3.1.5 The portal frame building, subject to this application, has a large inspection pit
within it, indicating that large vehicles have previously been maintained within
the building, which is also confirmed by the sites planning history.

Site photo – entrance to application site – taken 20th February 2020

Page 16

Site photo – of building and internal yard area – taken 20th February 2020.

3.2
Proposed Development
3.2.1 The applicant, PHG Contracting Limited was established in 1990 and carry
out ground works for projects across the North West. They are a local
employer in Blackburn with Darwen with 35 local staff who predominately
carry out mainly ground construction works and with their plant kept on
construction sites. Their company offices currently operate from a rented unit
on Albert Street, Blackburn.
3.2.2 Planning permission is sought to use the portal frame building as the
companies Headquarter offices with the mezzanine first floor to be used as
the companies administrative offices. The site is to be occupied by four staff
who will be office based running the remote aspect of the company. The
remainder of the building is to involve low use basic plant maintenance and
storage, as Plant machinery will be predominately on construction sites, as
currently occurs.

Page 17

Extract from submitted “proposed site plan”.

Extract from submitted “proposed floor plans”

3.3
Development Plan
3.3.1 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2: Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In

Page 18

determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
Core Strategy (2011)


Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy



Policy CS4: Protection and reuse of employment sites

3.3.2 Local Plan Part 2 (2015):

3.4



Policy 1: The Urban Boundary



Policy 2: Inner Urban Boundary



Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development



Policy 8: Development and People



Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2019)
3.4.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (Framework) is a material
consideration in planning decisions. The Framework sets out a presumption in
favour of sustainable development, which is the “golden thread” running
through both plan-making and decision-taking. In this regard Paragraph 8 of
the NPPF states:
“Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives, which are interdependent and need to be
pursued in mutually supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to
secure net gains across each of the different objectives):
a) an economic objective– to help build a strong, responsive and
competitive economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth, innovation
and improved productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of
infrastructure;
b) a social objective– to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to

Page 19

meet the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a welldesigned and safe built environment, with accessible services and open
spaces that reflect current and future needs and support communities’ health,
social and cultural well-being; and
c) an environmental objective– to contribute to protecting and enhancing
our natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of
land, helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently,
minimising waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate
change, including moving to a low carbon economy”
3.4.3 Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains that for decision taking, this means
approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development
plan without delay.
3.4.4 Other Relevant Legislation


Human Rights Act 1998



Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 2006 (any rural
site)



The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2010



Localism Act



Section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act, 1998

4.0
Assessment
4.1.1 The main issues in this case are the impact of the new use on the amenities
of neighbouring residents in terms of increased traffic, noise and disturbance.
Principle of Development
4.1.2 The Perseverance Mill site is a local employment site. The planning history
for the site indicates a number of employment generating uses have operated
from the building to which this application relates and within the wider site,
including as a HGV repair garage.
4.1.3 The planning history for the site indicates that in 1990 retrospective
permission was allowed by the Planning Inspectorate for the continued use of
the building for the repair of commercial vehicles, including, the repair of
HGV’s and had been operating in excess of 20 years.
4.1.4 The Government seeks to support a strong, responsive and competitive
economy and retaining one of the boroughs employers (35 local employees)
is important to the well-being of the borough and its residents is welcomed.

Page 20

4.1.5 According to the Council’s Business Rates records, the building has been
vacant for the last couple of years, as it has been utilised for storage
purposes. The proposals will therefore reutilise an effectively vacant building
and thus will retain an employment generating use in the borough.
4.1.6 The proposal to re-use the building for employment generating purposes is
therefore acceptable in principle, subject to the impact on residential amenity
and highway safety being satisfactory.
Parking and Highway Safety
4.1.7 The Portal Frame building to which this application relates is accessed from
Industry Street, a two-way carriageway that provides access to the rear of
properties on Olive Lane, a number of residential streets, a children’s nursery
and Lord Street Children’s Centre.
4.1.8 The building is to be utilised for as a logistics headquarters and storage/
maintenance unit for the company.
4.1.9 In considering this aspect Core Strategy Policy 22: Accessibility Strategy and
Local Plan Policy 10: ‘Accessibility and Transport’, aim to ensure that new
developments provide appropriate provision for access, car parking and
servicing so as to ensure the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all
highway users is not prejudiced. The objections received all raise concerns
about the highway safety impacts of the proposals put forward.
4.1.10 Access and parking by vehicles will remain as existing off Industry Street with
parking for staff and any construction vehicles on the application site.
4.1.11 Various measures have been taken in the locality to restrict the movement of
vehicles through a number of the residential streets in the locality being oneway.
4.1.12 The supporting information accompanying the application provides the
proposed vehicle strategy which indicates that vehicular movements will be
minimal given that large equipment will be out on construction sites.
4.1.13 Having regard to the available floor area and the presence of the inspection
pit the use of the building for HGV’s is likely to restrict such vehicles to be one
HGV at a time, or possible two 7.5 Tonne wagons. The throughput of vehicles
is likely, in the Officer’s opinion, to be mainly governed by the number, which
can be accommodated within the building for repair. It is the view of Officers
that the change of use is not likely to give rise to such a noticeable increase in
the volume of traffic that residential amenity would be seriously harmed.

Page 21

4.1.14 In terms of manoeuvrability within the site, a tracking route for larger vehicles,
which was initially submitted, was deemed too severe. This has therefore
been replaced with a revised parking layout and a highway safety narraritive
indicating that any vehicles entering the site will not exceed more than 7.5
Tonnes. Where vehicles in excess of 7.5 Tonnes do enter the site a
Banksman will be used to manoeuvre vehicles in and out of the site. Given
the suggested level of such movements is considered to be low, the Highway
Authority consider this to be acceptable, as pedestrian safety will be
safeguarded.
4.1.15 The parking layout submitted ( refer to paragraph 3.2.2 above) shows that not
all parking bays fully comply with the 6m manoeuvring space usually required,
however, the Highway Authority considers that with slight adjustment this can
be accommodated. To secure this, a condition for a car-parking layout to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, which is
to be installed prior to the use proposed occurring, is recommended.
4.1.16 In order to encourage sustainable transport methods to the site, the Highways
Authority has sought a safe Pedestrian Route in to the site, and for cycle and
Powered Two-Wheel Vehicle (PTW) parking to be included on-site.
4.1.17 A pedestrian route is to be marked out on site, as per the submitted amended
drawing to illustrate a safe route through site from the road for pedestrians.
Members should note that the building will not be open to the general public
and this route will only be used by users of the building.
4.1.18 The amended details also illustrate cycle and Powered Two-Wheel Vehicle
(PTW) parking within the site. The Highway Authority considers that the
location proposed for this is acceptable, however they request that the storage
facility be covered and provides adequate security to encourage use of these
transport methods and also to limit crime by ensuring bicycles and PTW
vehicles can be stored securely.
4.1.19 Overall, based on the information submitted the highway safety impacts are
not considered to be significantly harmful to justify the application be resisted
on this ground. Subject to the conditions recommended by the Highway
Authority, it is considered the proposals accord with the requirements of Policy
10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.

Residential Amenity

Page 22

4.1.20 Policy 8 requires development to contribute positively to the overall physical,
social, environmental and economic character of the area, as well as securing
satisfactory levels of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for
occupants or users of the development itself; with reference to noise,
vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking,
and the relationship between buildings.
4.1.21 The residential amenity concerns raised are acknowledged. They must be
assessed in context with the existing employment generating uses of
Perseverance Mill, the established uses on the site, and the former authorised
use of the building for the maintenance and inspection of vehicles.
4.1.22 It is considered that an employment generating use has been established on
this site for many years – the earliest planning record indicates business and
industrial type uses have operated on the site since the 1970’s. However,
Officers note that according to the Council’s Business Rates records, the
building has been used for storage purposes for the last couple of years. The
reintroduction of a business use on the site may cause residents to
experience a presence on site which is not currently there. Officers have
carefully considered this and consider that the resultant impact of the
proposed headquarters for the business with the associated maintenance of
vehicles can be greatly reduced by conditioning the hours of use of the
building to:
Monday to Friday: 08:00 to 18:00,
Saturday: 09:00 to 13:00,
Sundays & Bank Holidays no operation.
4.1.23 These hours can be secured by a suitable worded planning condition.
4.1.24 Noise issues can also be minimised by on-site operative plant, machinery or
tools to be fitted with silencing equipment. In addition, what can be
unreasonably disturbing, because of its tonal qualities, is the sound of
reversing alarms fitted to mobile equipment operating on the site. This can
again be controlled by planning conditions – please see the recommended
conditions in paragraph 4.1 of this report/
4.1.25 Given that noise reduction measures and the more disturbing noise
characteristics of reversing alarms can be controlled by planning conditions,
and that operating hours would be limited to within a normal working day, it is
considered that the occupants of surrounding houses would not be
unreasonably disturbed by noise arising from activities associated with the
proposed scheme.

Page 23

4.1.26 Subject to the recommended conditions, it is considered that the proposals
are acceptable and accord with the requirements of Local Plan Part 2, Policy
8.
5.0

RECOMMENDATION

5.1.1 Approve subject to the following recommended planning conditions:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of
three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.
2. Approved Drawings List
Unless explicitly required by condition within this permission, the development
hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete accordance with the
proposals as detailed on drawings:
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are relevant
to the permission.
3. The premises shall only be used for the purposes applied for and for no other
use included within Class B2 or B8 of the Town and Country Planning Use
Classes Order 1987 (as amended).
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the adjoining premises and the area
generally in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Local Plan Part 2.
4. The use of the premises in accordance with this permission shall be restricted
to the hours between 08:00 to 18:00 on weekdays and 09:00 to 13:00 on
Saturdays and there shall be no operation on Sundays or bank holidays.
REASON: The use of the premises outside these hours could prove injurious
to the character of the area and in order to safeguard residential amenities,
and to accord with Policies 8, 10 and 11 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local
Plan Part 2 and the National Planning Policy Framework.
5. No vehicles exceeding 7.5 metres shall enter the site unless accompanied by
Banksmen.
REASON: In the interests of the safety of all highway users, in accordance
with Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.

Page 24

6. No plant, equipment and machinery including vehicles shall be operated on
the site unless equipped with effective silencing equipment that has been
installed and is maintained at all times in accordance with the manufacturer’s,
and/or supplier’s instructions.
REASON: To limit the potential for noise generation during unsocial hours and
to prevent nuisance arising in order to safeguard the amenity of the occupiers
of surrounding residential properties in accordance with the requirements of
Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2 and the National
Planning Policy Framework.
7. No mobile plant vehicles shall be operated on the site other than those with a
‘white noise' type of reversing warning alarm system, or an alternative system
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. For the avoidance of
doubt, this condition shall not apply to vehicles delivering waste to the site.
REASON: To limit the potential for noise generation and to prevent nuisance
arising in order to safeguard the amenity of the occupiers of surrounding
residential properties in accordance with the requirements of Policy 8 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2 and the National Planning Policy
Framework.
8. Prior to the mixed B2/B8 with ancillary Office use hereby approved being
brought into use, a minimum of 3 cycle racks and 1 Powered Two Wheel
Vehicle rack with appropriate signage shall be provided within the site, in
accordance with details that shall have first been submitted to and approved
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The cycle and PTW racks shall
thereafter be maintained in perpetuity with the development.
REASON: To provide facilities to optimise sustainable travel to the site, in
accordance with Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2
and the National Planning Policy Framework.

6.0

PLANNING HISTORY

6.1.1 The following table details the planning history for the application site:
Application Development Description
Decision
Number
10/04/1264 Warehouse Extension
Withdrawn
10/04/0045 Proposed Warehouse Extension to Withdrawn
existing premises

Page 25

Date
12/03/2004
23/12/2004

10/02/0378
10/00/0676
10.90/0777

10.84/0295
10.80/1495

10.77/1468

10.77/1328
10.77/1209

E56

7.0

Proposed ramp to existing first floor
car parking area
Demolition of existing buildings and
erection of private dwellings
Change of use to general repair
garage

Approved
Approved

31
July
2002
01/12/2000

Refused
22/08/1980
but
Allowed on
Appeal
Wholesale Cash and Carry
Refused
27/03/1984
Change of Use from garage for Refused
22/08/1980
Company Vehicles to Motor
Vehicle Body Repair Shop
Illuminated flat box sign recessed Refused
16/09/1977
over external wall on elevation to
Cornfield Street
Construction of Canopy over office Approved
02/09/1977
entrance on Olive Lane
Canopy over front entrance and Refused
26/08/1977
signs on both fascias. 2 No.
Illuminated signs on chimney
Unauthorised change of use to Granted on
HGV Repair Garage
Appeal
under
application
10/90/0777

CONSULTATIONS
Neighbour Consultations

7.1.1 23 individual letters were initially sent to local residents adjoining the
application site. As a result of this initial public consultation, a Petition was
received containing the name and addresses of 19 people. This Petition was
reported to Members at the committee meeting held on the 18 June 2020 and
is appended to this report for Members convenience at Section 8.
7.1.2 The petition received raised the following concerns:


Highway safety concerns as a result of the increase the volume of
traffic going to and from the site in a primarily residential area;

Page 26






The affected highway is heavily used by children walking to and from
school, using the nursery, the Sure Start Centre and a play area;
The increased traffic from the site and using the local shop will cause
an increased risk to highway safety/ pedestrian safety;
The proposals activity and increase in traffic will cause pollution; and,
The proposals activity and increase in traffic will create additional noise
during anti-social hours affecting quality of life.

7.1.3 Following assessment of the application by Officers, further information was
sought concerning parking and manoeuvrability within the site and whether
larger vehicles could safely enter and exit safely. On submission of the
requested information, local residents and the respective Ward Councillors
were re-consulted on the proposals.
7.1.4 Three representations have been received to this second round of
consultation. Two representations are from local residents residing on Marsh
Terrace and Newton Street. Cllr Roy Davies has also made representations.
All three representations raise objections to the proposals which can be
summarised as follows:







Safety of children who pass he yard on their way to and from School
and the nursery and the safety of elderly who use the road to access
Olive Lane due to the increase in traffic close to the junction with Olive
Lane.
Concerns about congestion occurring due to the access of the site
being restricted to single vehicular access and egress.
Manoeuvrability concerns affecting the highway.
Noise and nuisance from the workshop/ warehouse and associated
yard area, affecting the amenity of neighbouring properties.
Concerns about night time noise.

7.1.5 The above-mentioned representations are shown in full at Section 8 of this
report.
Statutory and Local Consultees
7.1.6 Public Protection
Given the historic and previous use of the building and yard area we can raise
no objections, subject to the following conditions being imposed to protect the
amenity of neighbouring occupiers:

Page 27



A decent hours restriction (I’d recommend Monday to Friday: 08:00 to
18:00, Saturday: 09:00 to 13:00, Sundays & Bank Holidays no
operation. The design and access statement says they will be working
8am until 6pm Monday to Saturday); and,



A non-tonal white noise forklift reversing alarm condition (to reduce the
impact of tonal revering beepers whilst vehicles are loaded / unloaded
– see https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=fkFdFP5ffRo They cost about
£35 to buy plus fitting if an old tonal is being replaced)

7.1.7 Highway Authority
The submission details have been reviewed.
The proposal received is for Change of use from HGV yard and garage to
PHG Contracting Yard with associated workshop/store building and offices
(Sui-Generis)
Parking
In accordance with the adopted parking standards, and based on the varying
uses proposed, the car parking allowance associated with the proposal is 5
spaces. No details of any parking arrangements have been received, neither
any details with regards cycle and PTW spaces. Provision for disabled bays
should also be provided.
Access
Vehicular access is confirmed to remain as existing, off Industry Street.
No details of safe pedestrian access from the highways to the site have been
provided.
Servicing
No details setting the need for service delivery visiting the site are offered in
the submission received. This should include frequency of visits, type of
vehicles, and swept path showing them entering, turning and leaving the site
in a safe manner in forward gear.
To conclude, in principle we would offer no objections, but require the above
matters to be addressed satisfactorily, before we can fully support the
proposal
Please note: Prior to the commencement of any works that affect or adjoin
the adopted highway – contact is to be made with the local highway authority
officer Simon Littler on Mob: 07766 578007

Page 28

Please attach standards conditions/Informatives: Highways 4, 10, 11, 15 and
17
Saf –6th March 2020
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Additional details received 3rd August 2020

On examination of the additional details received, I am still concerned with the
site operations.
 The tracking that has been sent through is not practical, the
movements are too severe, and appear to impact upon the car parking
spaces to be provided;
 There is no confirmation on the frequency of movement, or what the
largest vehicle visiting the site would be;
 As the use involves repairing of vehicles, we would assume there
would a waiting area for vehicle’s waiting to be repaired, this should be
annotated on the plan;
 No pedestrian passage as requested has been provided;
 The location of cycle parking is proposed to the rear of the property
with no direct surveillance or accessibility into the site, these should be
relocated closer to the front entrance;
 The cycle spaces should be covered and secure, please request
further details;
 No details of PTW spaces has been offered; and,
 All parking bays should have 6m manoeuvrability into and out of the
space. The layout of the car parking does not conform to this.
Saf – 7th August 2020
-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------Further details received 9th October 2020
Further to the issues outstanding, I respond as follows:


Vehicle manoeuvre has been shown; narrative accompanying this
indicates that the vehicle coming to site will be a 7.5t vehicle. The
manoeuvring will be assisted by a banksman when leaving the site, this
is acceptable.

Page 29








I note from the statement received, that the largest vehicle to the site
will be 7.5T. Please condition this.
No clear detail on frequency of movement has been offered, however it
is understood from the narrative that they will be low movement, and
the deliveries to the site will be minimal – This is acceptable.
Reponses to the location of the cycle and PTW has been considered,
although still not ideal this is acceptable, I would however request that
a condition is attached to support coverage and security details to be
submitted for approval
The parking bays do not all comply with the 6m manoeuvrability,
however with slight adjustment I am of the opinion that this can be
accommodated, please condition for car parking layout to be submitted
for approval

To conclude, on the information submitted, I would offer no further objections
to the application
Saf- 5th November 2020
8.0

Summary of representations

Objection – Cllr Roy Davies, Darwen East Ward Rec 16.10.2020
Hi, I strongly object to this planning application for a number reasons, and do agree with the
observations in the planning application, but would also like to give reason’s for my objections.
1/ This application is at the side of Cornfield Cliffe, an establishment run by Night Safe that has at
any one time 6 to 8 homeless young people living there.
2/ The position of the Garage is right at the end a number of Terraced houses.
3/ Lord street nursery is less than 30 yards away.
4/ Footfall in this area from the terraced houses mentioned is a lot with parents and children
attending Lord street nursery, Saint James school, Sudell road school, and Olive Lane park is last than
10 yards away.
5/ As mentioned in the report the manoeuvrability is bad in the area, (one of the reasons that the
last occupier left).
6/ There is no on street parking, for cars waiting to be repaired to wait.
7/ If this garage also provides a service that picks up broken down vehicles, there is also a problem
with these vehicles going into the garage for repair at all times Day/night.
8/ What are the times that this operation will be allowed to open?

Page 30

Objection – Cllr Roy Davies, Darwen East Ward Rec 07.10.2020
Hi I strongly object to this application for a number of reasons 1/ This is a built up area of terraced
housing. 2/ The pavements lead in one way to the children’s centre on Lord street.
3/ The paths used one of the other direction are used for parents to take the children to both Saint
James nursery on Winterton road and James primary school.
4/On both sides are used for young children to go to Sudell primary, and to Aldridge Academy.
The last time this property was in use was for a car repair shop, which was opened day and night
regardless of restriction put in place by the council.
The entrance of the left hand side of the Mill which is used most days causes all traffic in the area to
stop the streets in and around the mill are very narrow and not built for heavy goods. Roy

Objection – Mrs Agnes Walsh, 23 Marsh Terrace, Darwen Rec 23.10.2020
I refer to your letter of 15th October advising of an amendment to the above application.
The amendment does nothing to address the concerns of myself and other local residents about the
detrimental impact the proposals will have on the safety and quality of life in the external area
surrounding the yard.
If the Planning Officer would like to visit the area and inspect the narrow streets in the immediate
vicinity of the yard the adverse effects of the proposals would be apparent. If the Planning Officer
would like to speak to local residents about their concerns, I would be happy to meet him or her.
Among our concerns is that there is already only limited parking space available in the surrounding
streets which is not enough for the existing residents’ cars. Bringing more vehicles to the area for
servicing and repair will add to the problem. The planning application does not address the question
of where the vehicles being repaired will be parked.
Additional traffic will create a danger of accidents for the local children who pass the yard on their
way to and from school. There has already been a near miss with one child recently. Elderly people
also pass the yard and will not be as nimble in dodging moving vans. The vehicle tracking on the
amendment seems to suggest that vehicles exiting the yard will use the same route as those
entering. This will lead to congestion on the street outside the yard and the possibility of collisions.
Apart from the increase in traffic and risk of accidents the activities in the yard and workshop will
create noise and nuisance spoiling the local resident’s quality of life.
Having spoken to many of my neighbours, I am confident that the majority of local residents are
totally opposed to the planning application.

Page 31

Objection – Hannah Borealis, 39 Newton Street Rec 19.10.2020
I am a resident at 39 Newton Street.
We have received a letter with regards to the planning application to change HGV yard and garage
to PHG Contracting yard.
Please see below my comments on this change:
Firstly, I would just like to state that we are really unhappy about this and do not want for it to
happen. We have young children who's bedroom is located on the back of the house and is
susceptible to noise from that particular area.
If there were to be vehicles in and out of the yard throughout the night this would more than likely
keep them awake, which would then affect both me and my partner and I am not willing for that to
happen. They are at school and nursery in the morning and me and my partner also work full time.
Secondly, we use the road daily to access their school and our work. If this road was to become busy
or congested this would then result in my children being late for school and myself and my partner
being late for work. Again, I am not willing to let that happen.
I hope you can understand and appreciate my concerns regarding this matter.

Objection- Petition – Number of Residents Rec 07.10.2020

Page 32

9.0

CONTACT OFFICER: Claire Booth MRTPI, Senior Planning Officer

10.0

DATE PREPARED: 06 November 2020

Page 33

Agenda Item 4.2
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/20/0415

Proposed development: Alterations to front elevations including change of
window frames. Internal alterations to fit out pub/restaurant, new door opening
to accommodate entrance to the rear. Alterations to rear yard to form outdoor
decking/lighting and seating along with a bin storage area.
Site address:
8 Church Street
Darwen
BB3 2RE
Applicant: Mr G Bird
Ward: Darwen East

13
15

Councillor: Paul Browne
Councillor: Roy Davies
Councillor: Jane Oates
___________________________________________________________________
18

Multi-storey Car Park

11

1
8a

2

160.9m

Market Hall

2a

3
7

9
11
10

27

T he O ld Chapel
(PH)

EAS
T

LB

22

12

osts
fP
eo
Lin

Market Hall

23

ET
RE
ST
ET
RK
MA

7

GR
EEN
STR
EET

13

to
36

16

38

15
14

Statue
Garage

Shelters
18

32

17
31

15

to
29

19

2

Darwen
Heritage Centre

EET
STR
NT
ME
LIA
PAR

T
EE
TR
TS
OF
CR

13

2

Shelters
163.7m

St Peter's Church

157.9m

to

10
rd
Wa
y
Bd

RCH
CHU

EET
STR

4

6

CHURCH TERRACE

8
4

2

2
11

LB

2

Hotel

NK
BA

ET
RE
ST

Bank
House
166.4m

CH
UR
CH

Millstone

154.5m

10

Posts

Post O ffice

1

ET
TRE
KS
BAN

5

5

1a

1

1

s
Post

ET
RE
ST
TH
BA

154.5m

2 to

ET
STRE
ORIA
VICT

P
19

19

11

17
21

Works

9

21 23

14

18

30

33

Works

to
27

b
Clu

VE
BELGRA
SQUARE

3

to

ST
R
EE
T

8 to 10

8

15
B
R
ID
G
E

War Memorial

20

6
5

13

TCB

20

35

3

21

11 13

1

2
37

39
24
22 to

31

Car Park

51

ST
R
EE
T

D
ROA
ELL
SUD

to
47

FO
U
N
D
R
Y

43

17

ROAD
BOLTON

G Yd

to 21

1 to 21
Belgrave Chapel

164.9m

28

15

El Sub Sta

1

157.9m

27

Darwen Aldridge Community Academy

1 to 3

James Court

AN
M
RD
HA

AY
W

35

Page 34

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1.1 This application is before the Committee due to the public interest in the case,
resulting in the receipt of 8 public objections, in accordance with the Chair
Referral Scheme of the Scheme of delegation.
2.1.2 The development will deliver a quality scheme, which will significantly
enhance the external fabric of the building as well as the wider Darwen Town
Centre Conservation Area setting. As well as the visual benefits of the
development, introduction of the new restaurants / cafes with associated
outdoor terraced area will supplement the existing retail and leisure offers
within the Darwen Town Centre area, thereby contributing towards the
sustainability of the historic host building and Darwen Town Centre
Conservation Area.
2.1.3 Accordingly, the proposal is consistent with the Borough’s overarching growth
strategy. It is also satisfactory from a technical point of view, with all issues
having been addressed through the application, or capable of being controlled
or mitigated through planning conditions.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is located on Church Street in the centre of the Darwen
Town Centre Conservation Area, which was originally designated in 1996 and
extended in 2005. The character of the area is principally made-up of
commercial properties; primarily retail and leisure with shops, pubs, bars and
restaurants. Towards the eastern end of Church Street is St. Peter’s Church
and beyond that at the eastern and northern edge of the conservation area
the character changes and becomes largely domestic with stone fronted
terraced houses laid out in a recognisable grid pattern.
3.1.2 8 Church Street is a two-storey, stone fronted former bank dating from the late
19th century. It has had some minor external alterations over the years mainly
to the ground floor windows where the cill level was raised and the
fenestration replaced. The premises has an extant approval for a mixed use
incorporating bar and restaurant use. The building forms part of a terrace that
is neo-Georgian in style with the striking classical features of simplicity,
symmetry and regularised features such as fenestration, ashlar stonework
and grand proportions. The rear of the property has a simpler form, with
limited fenestration and an open yard area covered with stone chippings. The
rear of the property faces a private car park area, with a funeral directors and
other commercial and residential uses adjacent.

Page 35

Google Street view image of application site (July 2018).

3.1.3 Overall the host building is considered to be a building of note in the
conservation area; it has group value being part of a terrace and adds a
positive influence to the aesthetic value of Church Street as well as
contributing in the town’s urban development.
3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Full planning permission is sought for alterations to the front and rear facades
including the addition of new timber window frames and awning details to the
front, with new glazed openings and glass doors to the rear. The proposal
also seeks to provide a new external seating area within the existing rear
yard. This element incorporates the use of raised decking, glass balustrade
detail, timber cladding and timber bin storage area fronting Church Bank
Street. The proposal are part-retrospective, with much of the internal fit out
and external seating area having been completed.

Page 36

Extract from proposed elevations drawing:

Extract from proposed floor plans drawing:

Page 37

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy

CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy

CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

CS17 – Built and Cultural Heritage
3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2 (LPP2):

Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development

Policy 8 – Development and People

Policy 9 – Development and the Environment

Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport

Policy 11 – Design

Policy 26 – Town Centres: A Framework for Development.

Policy 39 – Heritage
3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework) 2019:

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development

Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Section 12: Achieving well-designed places

Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
3.4.2 Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:





Principle of the development
Amenity impacts
Design impacts
Heritage impacts

Page 38

3.5.2 Principle
As a site located with the Inner Urban Area of Darwen and Darwen Town
Centre, designated as a Primary Shopping Area, the proposal is consistent
with the Policies CS1 and CS16 of the Development Plan, which state that the
urban area is the preferred location for new development.
3.5.3 Policy 26 of the LPP2 supports development involving main town centres uses
within the town centres. Restaurants and cafes are defined as such in the
Development Plan Glossary, which is consistent with the definitions offered for
such uses in The Framework. Furthermore, Policy 26 supports protection and
expansion of the leisure offer within town centres and development of an
evening economy, including restaurants and cafes, including within the
defined Northgate Quarter of Blackburn Town Centre. Notwithstanding that
position, Members should note that the proposed change of use of the main
building to a mixed use comprising restaurant and bar functions was agreed
within planning approval 10/19/0912 under delegated powers in December
2019.
3.5.4 Accordingly, the principle of the development is supported, in accordance with
polices CS1, 1 and 26 of the Development Plan. It is also consistent with The
Framework’s economic and environmental objectives of sustaining viable
town centres.
3.5.5 Amenity
Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for
surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with
reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance,
privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.7 The proposal poses no concern with reference to privacy / overlooking or
relationship between buildings.
3.5.8 The most significant element for Members to consider relates to the proposed
alterations to the rear façade of the building, which introduces new openings
at ground floor level; along with the formation of an external seating area, and
the impact of those changes on the amenity of surrounding uses with regard
to noise and/or nuisance.
3.5.9 Objections to the scheme are set out in full within section 9 of this report. They
originate from both commercial and residential premises and principally raise
concerns with noise/music emanating from the main building and disturbance
arising from the users of the external seating area. Wider concerns with litter
and nuisance from patrons accessing/egressing the site are also raised.
Comments received from Ainsworth Funerals, who lay in close proximity to
the south east of the site, identify concerns from music and other disturbance
within the seating area conflicting with the nature of their own business which
regularly involves bereaved families visiting their premises during the day,
evenings and at weekends. Residential objections also raise the issue of late
night noise.

Page 39

3.5.10 The application has been supplemented by a noise report (Miller Goodall:
report number 102351), which has been undertaken to predict the impact of
the proposed development on the nearest noise sensitive receptors (NSR’s).
An unattended noise survey was completed over the period 09/07/202013/07/2020. This data was subsequently used to assess the predicted noise
levels from the new development on the local environment.
3.5.11 The main noise sources identified were from patrons within the rear external
area. As a result of this a noise management plan has been recommended to
manage noise from these sources. Additional noise mitigation
recommendations have been incorporated in to the building works that have
been ongoing at the premises and most notably include the use of a
recommended glazing specification and the provision of a two-door system to
the rear opening to prevent noise leakage from the main building.
3.5.12 The noise report concludes that;
- Computer noise modelling was utilised in addition to noise measurements.
- The measured data along with the noise model (CadnaA) has been used to
the impact of proposed noise sources on the existing NSR’s.
- A recommended glazing specification has been provided to enable the
recommended external noise levels on the facade of the NSR’s to be
achieved. Along with advice of keeping the doors closed and not propped
open, especially when live music/DJ events on.
- A recommendation for the roof element for the ground floor’s flat roof at the
back of the property has been provided to enable the recommended external
noise levels on the facade of the NSR’s to be achieved.
- Recommended plant noise limits have been suggested to reduce the change
of complaints after installation.
- With the implementation of these recommendations it is considered that a
suitable and commensurate level of protection against noise will be provided
to the occupants of the proposed accommodation.
3.5.13 The Council’s Head of Public Protection has appraised the submitted noise
report and application details and advises;
“The proposed outdoor customer seating and decking area, at the rear of the
premises, is likely to cause noise nuisance loss of amenity at noise sensitive
premises in the immediate locality. Complaints have been received by the
Council due to noisy customers using a similar outdoor seating area at the
adjacent Cin Cin (café/bar) during the late evening/night-time period and local
authority officers have witnessed customer noise likely to cause loss of
amenity.
A significant factor in the level of disturbance caused is the number and
noisiness of customers using the outdoor area; the latter being affected by the
amount of alcohol consumed by customers into the late evening/night-time

Page 40

period. Clearly, alcohol consumption increases during the evening/night-time
period with a consequent increase in customer noise level with raised voices,
loud laughter and occasional shouting becoming frequent. In addition, the
assessment and control of customer noise is subject to significant uncertainty
because the level of noise a group of customers will generate is
unpredictable, highly variable and difficult to manage. This is why it is
essential to apply a precautionary approach to ensure that an acceptable
standard of residential amenity is maintained in the locality.
However, I am aware that Café Pavement Licences have been issued in the
locality for pavement/street use up to 21:00hrs each evening that have not
caused significant street noise disturbance or given rise to noise nuisance
complaints. Additionally, the Environmental Protection Service has recently
recommended a premises licence condition restricting outdoor hours of use to
22:00hrs each evening at the application premises.
I recommend approval of the application with a 10pm hours of use restriction
for the external seating area, ensuring consistency with the above mentioned
premises licence hours restriction, to minimise the likelihood of significant loss
of amenity arising from the outdoor seating and decking areas”.
Additionally, “It is the experience of the Environmental Protection Service that
the control of outdoor amplified music by business operators doesn’t work –
the temptation to increase music to unacceptably loud levels is too hard to
resist. I am also aware that the conditioned approval of applications based
upon the implementation of ‘Noise Management Plans’ by business operators
is not favoured by Development Management as enforcement is problematic.
I, therefore, recommend that the playing of amplified music in the outdoor
seating area is prohibited by condition.”
Finally, all sound proofing measures detailed in the ‘Noise Assessment’
(reference report number 102351, dated 17th September 2020) 8.4 ’Proposed
Mitigation’ shall be implemented prior to commencement of the approved use
and thereafter retained for the duration of this use”.
3.5.14 Further conditions relating to the need to agree a flood lighting scheme prior
to its installation and standard hours of construction (8 am to 6pm Monday to
Friday, 9am to 1pm Saturday, no site operations on Sundays and Bank
Holidays) shall also be imposed.
3.5.15 Subject to the restrictions outlined above, compliance with Policy 8 is
achieved.
3.5.16 Design / Heritage
Policy 11 requires a good standard of design that should enhance and
reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area. Policy 39 requires development with the potential to affect
designated or non-designated heritage assets to sustain or enhance the

Page 41

significance of the asset. In this context, the proposal is supported by
submission of a Heritage Statement.
3.5.17 The principle statutory duty under the Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is to preserve the special character of heritage
assets, including their setting. With reference to Conservation Areas, LPA’s
should pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area and consider the impacts on character
and appearance (which includes its setting) separately.
Development
proposals need to satisfy both aspects (to preserve or enhance) to be
acceptable.
3.5.18 The Framework includes direction that LPA’s should take account of;

The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their
conservation;

The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to
local character and distinctiveness.
P.193 states that when considering the impact of proposals on the significance of
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be
applied. This is irrespective of whether any harm is identified as being
substantial, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
P.196 identifies that where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing
its optimum viable use.
3.5.19 Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development requires new development
to be of a high standard of design, and to respect and reinforce local character.
Particular attention must be paid to all of the following:
i. Character
ii. Townscape
iii. Public realm
iv. Movement and legibility
v. Sustainability
vi. Diversity
vii. Colour
Development in prominent locations, in areas of major change and on transport
gateways will be required to demonstrate particularly high standards of design.
3.5.20 A Design & Access Statement incorporating heritage statement has been
submitted in support of the application. The submissions detail the proposed
alterations to the principal elevation including replacement windows, new
signage & lighting and the alterations at the rear of the property to make the
external space suitable for outdoor seating.

Page 42

3.5.21 The submitted details have been reviewed by the Council’s Heritage and
Conservation consultee, who offered the following comments:
“In some respects the development proposals are considered positive to the
appearance of the building. Enlarging the ground floor openings will restore an
important feature to this building. However, I would prefer to see existing ground
and first floor timber window frames replaced in timber rather than metal frames
as proposed. Whilst contemporary materials can work in heritage locations in
some instances the replacement of historic timber sashes windows on a
traditionally-constructed neo-Georgian property is not considered appropriate and
would likely harm the integrity of the building.
I note that whilst the wider area has a mix of styles the adjoining properties along
the terrace retain timber joinery and have well considered and sympathetically
designed frontages. Any new development on this terrace should continue this
precedent and promote high quality and characterful design. The replacement
window frames on the principal frontage should ideally be carried out in a like-forlike manner. I have no objections to the introduction of new lighting or the works
to the rear elevation which has been much altered and is of lower significance”.
3.5.22 The applicant has agreed to the conservation officer’s request to alter the
proposal to provide for the use of timber framed glazing to the front elevation
rather than aluminium frames. Amended drawings detailing that change have
been secured. Nonetheless, in order to fully satisfy the heritage requirements it is
suggested that a condition requiring the use of timber frames, including provision
of a cross section of the joinery details, be imposed on any approval.
3.5.23 Subject to the suggested condition, the proposals are considered to respond
positively and would leave the Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area
unharmed. Furthermore, the proposals serve to help secure a long term viable
use for the otherwise vacant premises.
3.5.24 Summary
This report assesses the full range of material issues affecting this planning
application to inform a balanced recommendation that demonstrates
compliance with the Development Plan and The Framework.
4

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Approve subject to:
Delegated authority is given to the Director for Growth and Development
to approve planning permission, subject to conditions which relate to
the following matters:
 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Page 43



Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, joinery
details, including cross sections drawings, of the replacement windows
within the front elevation of the building shall be submitted and agreed
by the local planning authority.
The agreed scheme shall be
implemented and retained thereafter to the satisfaction of the local
planning authority.
REASON: To ensure the external appearance of the building is
acceptable within the conservation area in accordance with Policies 11
and 39 of the Blackburn With Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

The use of the outdoor seating area shall be restricted to 10am to
10pm daily.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

There shall be no external amplified music within the outdoor seating
area at all times.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

The sound proofing mitigation measures, as detailed within report
102351, received 17th September 2020 shall be implemented prior to
use of the premises and thereafter retained to the satisfaction of the
local planning authority.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

There shall be no floodlighting within the outdoor seating area unless a
scheme is submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Such a scheme shall be implemented and retained
thereafter.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 Construction shall only take place between the hours of 08:00 and
18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and not at all on
Sundays or Bank Holidays.
REASON: To protect the amenity of residents in accordance with
Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete
accordance with the proposal received on 8th October 2020, titled “Noise
Assessment”, Report Number 102351; 4th August 2020 titled “Elevations
and existing layouts”; 4th August 2020 titled “Layouts”; 4th May 2020 titled
“Design and Access Statement”; 4th May 2020 titled “Location plan and
site plan”.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are
relevant to the consent.

Page 44

5

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 10/19/0912 - Change of use from bank to A3/A4 restaurant café / drinking
establishment, approved December 2019.

6

CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Heritage & Conservation
Support offered, as per the response set out at paragraphs 3.5.21 to 3.5.23
6.2 Public Protection
No objection subject to the following conditions:
- Use of outdoor seating area restricted to 10am to 10pm, daily.
- No external amplified music
- Sound mitigations measures in accordance with report 102351, received
17th September 2020
- No flood lighting within the outdoor seating area unless approved in writing
by the LPA
- Construction hours restriction, 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday, 9am to 1pm
Saturday, no site operations Sundays and Bank Holidays
6.2 Environmental Services
No objection
6.3 Public Consutlation
The application has been advertised in accordance with the provisions of the
Procedure Order. 28 neighbouring premises have been consulted by letter, site
notices displayed and press notices issued. The consultation process has been
repeated following the receipt of amended details. 8 letters of objection have
been received and they are set out within section 9 of this report.
6.4 Highways:
No objection

7 CONTACT OFFICER:
Martin Kenny, Principal Planning Officer –
Development Management.
8 DATE PREPARED: 9th November 2020.

Page 45

9 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Objection – Mr Arnold, 2 & 2A Bath Street, Darwen. Rec – 19/05/2020

Objection – Edwin Ainsworth Ltd, Church Bank Street, Darwen. Rec – 19/05/2020

Page 46

Objection – Mr & Mrs C Rugg, Friar Rugg’s Fish & Chip Shop, Bridge Street, Darwen. Rec –
02/06/2020

Page 47

Objection - Gillian Fox - Bridge St Chiropody, 9 Bridge Street, Darwen. Rec – 17/06/2020

Page 48

Objection John N Jacklin – Gorse Barn, Rock Lane, Tockholes, Darwen. Rec – 23/06/2020

Page 49

Objection – Brian & Marion Isherwood, Holmesdale, 22 Chapman Road, Darwen. Rec – 29/06/2020

Objection – K M Knowles – 12 Alexandra View, Darwen. Rec 29/06/2020

Page 50

Agenda Item 4.3
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/20/0453

Proposed development: Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material
Amendment for Variation of Conditions pursuant to planning application
10/18/0417; no. 1 (Amend Approved Drawings) to seek retrospective
permission for the raised decking and fencing to the front of the premises; No.
3 (Hours of Opening) to amend the opening hours so that the premises will not
open to the public outside the following hours: Monday to Saturday 08:00 to
18:00 hours and on Sundays and Bank Holidays: 10:00-19:00 hours; and
removal/ variation of condition no. 6 restricting no more than 8 people at any
one time to allow 12-16 seats (3-4 tables) externally.
Site address:
The Arches Cafe , 581-583 Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 5HD
Applicant: Mr Simeon Stuttard
Ward: Livesey With Pleasington: Councillor Derek Hardman
Councillor Paul Marrow

Page 51

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

SPLIT DECISION - subject to the conditions as varied – as shown in Section
4.0 of this report.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

This application is presented to the Committee for determination as part of the
Chair Referral process due to the local interest in the application from nearby
residents and the number of objections and support representations received.

2.2

The café has provided a social hub in the local area,which is within walking
distance of many properties. The shop and its attractive shop front with
associated planting has enhanced this former shopping parade, now
containing the Arches Café and a Hairdresser with ancillary beauty services.

2.3

The representations make clear that the conflict of customers to the café
cause on-street parking issues to local residents and this is one of the main
concerns of local residents, alongside the noise and disturbance from
customers of the cafe.

2.4

The boundary fencing and raised platform that has been erected and is being
applied for retrospectively is considered to be visually acceptable.

2.5

The concerns of local residents relating to parking and highway safety issues
around the locality have been fully taken in to account. In the interests of the
safety of all highway users, it is recommended that the proposal to extend the
weekday, Monday to Saturday, opening hours be resisted, due to the conflict
of customer and residents parking at those peak times when residents are
returning home from work.

2.6

Whilst this is the case, the café is currently authorised to open until 18:00
hours on Sundays and Bank Holidays. It is therefore considered that in both
highway safety and residential amenity terms, any additional harm accrued by
the additional one hour on Sunday and Bank Holidays would not be so
significant to justify refusal of this aspect of the proposals.

2.7

Moving on to the third element being proposed which seeks to remove
Condition no. 6 pursuant to application 10/18/0417. Condition 6 restricts the
number of covers outside the cafe to no more than 8, given the close
proximity of neighbouring dwellings directly adjacent to and opposite the
application site. It is considered that the previous concerns of Officers and
Members relating to neighbouring amenity have not changed. Officers
consider the amenity of these local residents would be made significantly
worse by any increase in the number of people sitting outside the premises.
For these reasons, it is thus recommended that Members resist the removal of
this condition.

Page 52

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application relates to a double retail unit situated within a short retail
parade of shops located on the west side of Kentmere Drive close to its
junction with Preston Old Road on the main entrance route to the wider
Kentmere Drive residential estate.
3.1.2 The small retail parade contains a hairdressers, and the business the subject
of this application, the ‘The Arches’ cafe.
3.1.3 Other than the two businesses at this point, the surrounding area is
predominantly residential in nature with dwellings located to the north, east,
south and west of the business premises.
3.1.4 A short parking layby exists in front of the premises which provide parking for
approximately three vehicles. To the side of the property two cars are able to
park off street with one car able to park to the rear. Customer parking for the
café is on-street.

Photograph of the Arches Café frontage.

Page 53

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Following approval of application 10/18/0417 by Members at the August 2018
Planning & Highways Committee the application seeks the following
amendments and variations to the approved development:
3.2.2 Firstly permission is sought to vary the approved drawings to seek
retrospective permission for the raised decking and fencing to the front of the
premises which has been erected.

Extract from submitted existing and proposed plans (14th October 2020):

Page 54

Photograph of frontage to Arches Café showing the raised decking and fencing,

3.2.3 The second variation being sought is to extend the hours of opening of the
café. As part of planning application 10/18/0417 condition no. 3 restricted the
hours to the following:
“The premises shall not be open to the public outside the following hours:
Monday to Saturday 08:00 - 16:00 and,
Sundays and Bank Holidays 10:00 - 18:00.
REASON: To protect the amenities of the occupants of nearby residential
properties and the character of the area in accordance with Policy 8 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.”
3.2.4 The applicant seeks to amend the opening hours to:
Monday to Saturday 08:00 to 18:00 hours and,
Sundays and Bank Holidays: 10:00-19:00 hours.
3.2.5 The final aspect of the amendments proposed is to remove condition no. 6
which states:

Page 55

“No more than 8 covers shall exist externally at any one time.
REASON: To limit the noise created outside the premises in the interests of
the amenity of surrounding residents and to accord with Policy 8 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.”
3.2.6 The submitted details indicate that the applicants want to allow 12 – 16 seats
(3-4 tables) externally at any one time (see floor plan above).
3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.2 Core Strategy
Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development
3.3.3 Local Plan Part 2
Policy 1: The Urban Boundary
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design
Policy 32: Local and Convenience Shops
Policy 33: Protection of Local Facilities

3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – 2018:
The National Planning Policy Framework (herein after referred to as The
Framework) is a material consideration in planning decisions. The Framework
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which has three
overarching objectives (social, economic and environmental) which are
independent and in mutually supportive ways.

Page 56

3.4.2 Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains that for decision taking, this means
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay.
3.4.3 The ‘economic’ objective of sustainable development with the social objective
both seek to support strong, responsive, vibrant and healthy communities.
3.5

Development Plan

3.5.1 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal, the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.5.2 Core Strategy
Policy CS1: A Targeted Growth Strategy
Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development

3.5.3 Local Plan Part 2
Policy 1: The Urban Boundary
Policy 8: Development and People
Policy 9: Development and the Environment
Policy 10: Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11: Design
Policy 32: Local and Convenience Shops
Policy 33: Protection of Local Facilities

3.6

Other Material Planning Considerations
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) – 2019:
The National Planning Policy Framework (herein after referred to as The
Framework) is a material consideration in planning decisions. The Framework
sets out a presumption in favour of sustainable development, which has three
overarching objectives (social, economic and environmental) which are
independent and in mutually supportive ways.

Page 57

Paragraph 11 of the Framework explains that for decision taking, this means
approving development proposals that accord with the development plan
without delay.

3.7

Assessment

3.7.1 The three aspects being applied for will all be considered separately;
-

The provision of decking and boundary fencing (retrospective);

-

The proposed extension to the opening hours of the business; and,

-

The removal of the condition restricting the number of people allowed
to eat externally at the front of the café.

The provision of decking and boundary fencing
3.7.2 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 11 requires a good standard of design and new
development is expected to enhance and reinforce the established character
of the locality and demonstrate an understanding of the wider context towards
making a positive contribution to the local area.
3.7.3 It is clearly evident that the café has greatly enhanced the appearance of this
short retail parade. The enclosure of the front forecourt on two sides by the
fencing erected was stark when it was first erected, however, the fencing with
its planting has softened the appearance of the fencing greatly, and together
with the glazed balustrade along the frontage, it is considered that the
structure now appears visually attractive within the street scene (see photo
below).

Page 58

3.7.4 The representations received suggest the proposed decking and fencing
encroaches on to the adopted highway. The Highway Authority has checked
this and have confirmed that these structures are not on highway land.
3.7.5 For these reasons, it is thus recommended that Condition 1 be amended to
allow the fencing and decking area to be retained.
The proposed variation to the approved opening hours of the business
3.7.6 The main issues in relation to this aspect are the impact of the cafe use on the
amenities of neighbouring residents in terms of increased traffic, noise and
disturbance.
3.7.7 Local Plan Part 2, Policy 8 ii) requires development to secure a satisfactory
level of amenity and safety for surrounding occupants with reference to noise,
vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance, privacy / overlooking,
and the relationship between buildings.
3.7.8 Local Plan Policy 10: ‘Accessibility and Transport’, aims to ensure that new
developments provide appropriate provision for access, car parking and
servicing so as to ensure the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all
highway users is not prejudiced. The objections received all raise concerns
about the highway safety impacts of the proposals put forward and the conflict
of residents and customer on-street parking provision.
Noise
3.7.9 In terms of noise and disturbance, the Council’s Public Protection team
recommends that the hours of use for the outdoor area remains unchanged
(Monday to Saturday 08:00 - 16:00, Sundays and Bank Holidays 10:00 18:00), in the interests of safeguarding the amenity of local residents.
3.7.10 In respect of Sundays and Bank Holidays, the applicants have permission to
open until 6pm (18:00 hours) on Sundays and Bank Holidays and they have
been operating in accordance with the approved times. It is considered that
the extra hour proposed on a Sunday would be extremely difficult to justify
refusal of, particularly as 6pm to 7pm are considered to be ‘daytime hours’
under Public Protection legislation.
Highway Safety
3.7.11 Turning to highway safety and the issues raised by the representations
relating to customer and residents parking; the Highway Authority raises
serious concerns given most residents arrive home between 4pm and 6pm.
With the current restrictions during the pandemic, and the move towards more
“home-working”, it is considered that the proposed increase in weekday
opening hours would exacerbate the current customers and residents parking
issues that are being experienced. Increasing the opening hours during the
working week would lead to cars being pushed in to parking on Preston Old
Road, a strategic highway, where the free flow of traffic and the safety of all

Page 59

highway users is paramount. The proposals for the increase in Monday to
Saturday opening hours would therefore lead to conditions harmful to the
safety of all highway users, contrary to the requirements of Policy 10.
3.7.12 In terms of the proposed extension to the Sunday and Bank Holiday opening
hours by one hour, the Highway Authority consider it would be difficult to
demonstrate the harm to highway safety on these days.
3.7.13 Taking the above in to account, it is therefore recommended that the
proposed extension to the Sunday and Bank Holiday opening hours is
allowed, but the extension to the opening hours of the café Monday to
Saturday be strongly resisted.

The removal of Condition 6 restricting the external area to no more than 8
people at any one time.
3.7.14 The main issues in this case are the impact of the new outdoor area on the
amenities of neighbouring residents in terms of noise and disturbance. At the
time of the previous application, the Council restricted the use of the outside
seating area to no more than 8 people. This was imposed due to the
proximity of local residents directly opposite and adjoining the shop frontage
and the need to minimise noise and disturbance. This seating area was on a
more informal basis, i.e. table and chairs on the forecourt area.
3.7.15 Officers consider that the effect an increased number of people eating outside
would lead to a further increase in the noise and disturbance local residents
identify, and this would prove injurious to the amenity of surrounding
residents. As such, it is considered appropriate that the number of people at
any one time within the new outdoor seating area remains at no more than 8.
For these reasons, it is strongly recommended that Members wholly resist the
removal of Condition 6.
4.0

RECOMMENDATION

4.0.1 It is recommended that a split decision be issued on the following grounds
to;
-

Allow the variation of condition 1 relating to the approved plans to
allow the retention of the boundary fencing and raised decking;
Refuse the proposed variation of the opening hours Monday to
Saturday;
Allow the variation proposed to the Sunday opening hours; and,
Refuse the removal of Condition 6

4.0.2 The original conditions will be re-imposed with Condition 1 and 3 varied as
follows:

Page 60

1. This permission relates to the amended plans received on 14 October
2020 reference: TA/PL/01/B, as modified by the conditions of this permission.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development
is carried out in accordance with the approved amended plans and
specifications, as modified by the conditions of this permission.

3. The premises shall not be open to the public outside the following hours:

Monday to Saturday 08:00 - 16:00 and, Sundays and Bank Holidays
10:00 - 19:00.
REASON: To protect the amenities of the occupants of nearby residential
properties and the character of the area in accordance with Policy 8 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Local Plan Part 2.

5

PLANNING HISTORY

5.0.1 The relevant planning history for the Arches Café is shown below:
Application Description of development
Number:
10/18/0417 Retrospective change of use
from A1 convenience store to A3
café-restaurant
10/19/0748 Discharge of conditions 4 and 5
on
planning
application
10/18/0417

6

Decision

Date

Approved by 20/08/2018
P&H
Committee
Approved by 20/09/2019
P&H
Committee

CONSULTATIONS
Neighbour Consultations

6.1

19 neighbours were consulted by letter on the application both when the
application was initially submitted and again in October on the receipt of the
corrected drawings and clarity was received on what variations the applicants
sought in relation to the conditions.

6.2

As a result of the publicity, 11 objections (including the Livesey Parish
Council) have been received and 29 letters of support have been received.
These representations are included in this report for Members convenience at
Section 8, but can be summarised as follows:
Objections:
 Parking issues affecting the free flow of traffic entering and leaving
Kentmere Drive and the wider estate and preventing parking for
residents and their visitors outside their properties.

Page 61






Traffic backing up on to Preston Old Road
Visitors to the café are doing dangerous manouvers in the highway
close to the junction with Preston Old Road
The decking encroached on to the pavement making it difficult for
wheelchair users, prams and people with impaired vision.
Noise and disturbance from users of the café and those sat outside.

Support:
 The Arches is a valued community asset and is a community hub.
 The building is visually pleasing
 With the current pandemic it is better for people to be able to dine
outside in fresh air than indoors for everybody’s safety

6.3

Public Protection
With reference to the planning application I have the following
comments:
1.
I recommend that condition No.6 (No more than 8 covers shall
exist externally at any one time) is retained and not varied. This will
prevent a more intensive use of the outdoor area.
Reason: To limit noise from the premises and thereby protect
residential amenity at nearby homes.
2.
If the Council is minded to extend the hours of opening to 19:00
hrs on Sundays and bank holidays I recommend that this should only
apply to customers inside the premises. I recommend that the hours of
use for the outdoor area remain unchanged (Monday to Saturday 08:00
- 16:00, Sundays and Bank Holidays 10:00 - 18:00)
Reason: To limit noise from the premises and thereby protect
residential amenity at nearby homes.

6.4

Highway Authority
The Highways Officer has considered the proposals and has minimal
concerns relating to the extension of the Sunday opening hours by effectively
one hour, given the business currently opens until 6pm. However, they raise
concerns relating to the extension of opening hours Monday to Saturday due
to the conflict of residents and customer parking.

7.0

CONTACT OFFICER – Claire Booth (MRTPI), Senior Planner
DATE PREPARED – 9th November 2020

Page 62

8.0

SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS

Objections – Rory Needham, Clerk to Livesey Parish Council Rec 23.10.2020
Details:
Variation/Removal of Condition/Minor Material Amendment - Variation of Conditions pursuant
to planning application 10/18/0417; no. 1 (Amend Approved Drawings) to seek retrospective
permission for the raised decking and fencing to the front of the premises; 3 (Hours of
Opening) to amend the opening hours so that the premises will not open to the public outside
the following hours: Monday to Saturday 08:00 to 18:00 hours and on Sundays and Bank
Holidays: 10:00-19:00 hours; and removal/ variation of condition no. 6 restricting no more
than 8 people at any one time to allow 12-16 seats (3-4 tables) externally.
At
The Arches Cafe
581-583 Preston Old Road
Blackburn
BB2 5HD
The Livesey Parish Council would like to object to the scheme because of the following issues:

The decking is encroaching on the public footway section of the frontage making it difficult
to wheel a pram or wheelchair across the front of the premises.
The fenced section is too high and unsightly.
The requested number of tables is too great.

Can you please bring this objection by Livesey Parish Council to the attention of the planning
committee.

Page 63

Comments – Alison Courland, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
I welcome that the council have tried to look at parking restrictions with double yellow lines but in
my opinion this has made access onto and off the estate a major problem when the premises are
trading ,some days I am aghast at the stupidity and idiotic behavior of the car owners who abandon
their cars onto the Kentmere estate pavements and in some instances over residents driveways I
personally feel totally sorry for the residents who live within the immediate bottle neck that has
been created.
Another issue is that when the premises are open they leave several advertising signs on the
footpath on Preston Old Road which apart from being a DDA issue they obscure driver vision when
trying to safely pull out of Kentmere Drive as these sign are at eye level, whilst I have commented to
the owners of The Arches nothing is done about the removal of these signs.
Whilst I am happy to support any local business in these challenging times I cannot accept a further
variation to the trading hours based on the issue of car parking, safety for foot pedestrians and for
the safe access onto and exiting the Kentmere estate and for the “Alfresco” lights which no doubt
will be illuminated outside the property.
Several years ago the council saw fit to compulsory purchase a private path that leads from the
property at 535 Preston Old Road onto the Kentmere estate based on the need for access I think its
time that the council looked at this as a much bigger safety issue that has been created.

Objections – Mr & Mrs Taylor, 17 Kentmere Drive Blackburn Rec 03.11.2020

To whom it may concern
I refer to your letter dated 14 October 2020 relating to the above named retrospective
planning application (The Arches Cafe, 581-583 Preston Old Road, Blackburn, BB2 5HD).
I note that permission by the applicants is being sought retrospectively. Surely permission
should have been sought prior to the amendments being made? This is the normal route of
seeking planning permission. I can only imagine if we made amendments to our property
without seeking permission beforehand we would be made to remove the amendments this should therefore be the case for the applicants from The Arches.
I would be grateful if you could consider the following comments when looking at this
‘retrospective’ application:
- I have submitted correspondence to the council previously on this matter both during the
current cafe ownership and during a previous ownership including photographs of the

Page 64

increased traffic due to the cafe, haphazard/dangerous parking and turning of vehicles
directly outside of my property, but this correspondence has mysteriously disappeared. I
know it is not common practice to acknowledge correspondence but I would be grateful,
due to the issue mentioned above, if this email can be acknowledged.
- The raised decking and fencing has already been installed (without permission) along with
lights, barriers and overhead heating, impinging on the residential pavement space,
increasing the noise in the residential area caused by al fresco dining, and increasing the
number of clients frequenting the establishment, therefore resulting in an increase in traffic
affecting the entrance/exit to the estate and the residents living near this. I would also like
to point out that one of the council’s public rubbish bins has been removed permanently
from the front of the building!
- This type of establishment should not be situated on a residential estate - I would suggest
that it is more in keeping on the sea front at Blackpool or at least away from residential
properties in an area with more parking.
- An increase in opening hours would only seek to exacerbate the issues I have already
raised and would impinge even further on our rights to peace and quiet in our own
properties as well as safety issues relating to the volume of traffic and parking in the area.
Due to the reasons stated above, the effect on surrounding residents and the fact that this
work has been done without having sought prior permission, I would suggest that you
consider refusing permission in retrospect.

Page 65

Objections – Mrs R M Ryan, 71 Kentmere Drive Blackburn Rec 26.10.2020

Objections – Mr. Stephen J. Sharples, 15 Kentmere Drive Blackburn Rec 26.10.2020
Dear Sir, thank you for your letter dated 14th October 2020. I am writing to you regarding the
retrospective Planning Application 10/18/0417 (the Arches Cafe, 581-583 Preston Old Road,
Blackburn. BB2 5HD.) extended opening hours, the increase of clients and the building of a raised
deck, fencing, barrier, lights and overhead heaters.This I presume is to facilitate Al Fresco dining
along with the noise. {Just out of interest are you aware that one of your rubbish bins has been
removed permanently from the front of the cafe during the building.) Not forgetting the increase in
traffic {one way into the estate and one way out of it) that will accompany the extended opening
hours. I get the feeling the applicant for the planning permission is getting the said application
through by stealth, by submitting a series of Retrospective Applications after the work has been
done, I may be wrong but I think you might look long and hard at this Planning Application because it
is making life very difficult for the surrounding residents.

Page 66

Objections – Mr.& Mrs.J.Garrity, Wythburn Avenue Rec 20.10.2020
With reference to the above application at The Arches Cafe Preston Old Rd.
We are residents on the estate involved and would like to list the following with regard to the safety
of ourselves and others. We feel that this is a residential estate and not a suitable place to be
running a cafe from.
1. Numerous vehicles parked at the entrance to the estate could be a danger for the access of
emergency vehicles.
2. The cafe have taken up most of the pavement with the decking making it extremely difficult for
wheelchair users, prams,and people with impaired vision.
3.Decking appears to be a permanent fixture although they are stating it is temporary.
4.Cars of customers are seen doing u turns at entrance to estate into peoples drives, dangerous
practice.
5.The waste bin has been removed encouraging litter to be thrown around.
6.The bungalows opposite the shop unable to park outside their own houses due to traffic for cafe.
7.Traffic backing up on to main road with cars and vans trying to get out of the estate from the cafe
as traffic is trying to get in. This can be dangerous for traffic travelling along the main road.
8.There is no car park available for customers.Three car parking spaces on lay-by in front of shop
which is shared by the shop next door. This is by no means adequate.

Objections – Colin Ashcroft, 4 Kentmere Drive Rec 19.10.2020
I have recieved a letter asking if I wish to object to changes to The Arches. I spoke at the original
retro-spective application, which seems to be a theme. The person running the business alters his
place then puts in for permission through planning, and gets it passed.
This is the third time I have objected,which appears to get ignored. The reason is still the
same,Parking. There are only 3 spaces for 3 shops. It was said the cafe/resturant was the hub of the
community. If so everyone could walk there, but I,ve seen on occasion 4 cars turn up with 4 women
in separate cars with Chorley harriers track suits (not local) all parking on the estate. Some curtiously
others actually on the new yellow lines (don't go far enough).
The original planning said no permenant structure.There is now 2 6 foot fences, more tables
& chairs (2 8places originally),a raised decking with glass front all covering the footpath. The bin

Page 67

blocking the footpath has been removed (without permission) so as not to totally block the
footpath.Bill boards are placed on the pavement (elegally I believe) every day of opening.
Fortunately the hairdressers is not open yet,due to refurb.or there would be even more
parking chaos.I have lived here 24 years now & since the shop has been opened, I am now getting
Rats in my garden & I am not the only one. I have a dog and usually they don't go where there is a
dog. The changes made at the shop, Which though look nice, do not take into account wheel chair
access both in & past the shop if cars are parked. You now have to walk in the road, which if they are
parked both sides(most often when busy) you are nearly run over because it is only wide enough for
one car.
The shop was supposed to display a sign, saying be curtious to neighbours which was in the
window, but now replaced by covid & 2 meter distance signs. I have also noticed that when the
Christmas tree is put up, it is usually August before it is removed. The food may or may not be good.I
will not be eating there due to the possition of it. I would go to a resturant, with a car park. There
are also people stood blocking the pavement waiting for bacon butties, also due to covid. The
residents, taking their children to school have to manuever around the people wait blocking the
pavement (not ideal in this climate).
So yes objection no.3 .I would Love to know if my concerns are listened to or even the outcome of
the appeal (because your website is impossible to find it)

Objections – Chris Norse, Unknown Address Rec 23.06.2020
With reference to the above planning application, I have the following concerns –
1. Kentmere Drive has only 1 entrance/exit, so it is crucial that the junctions are kept clear at all
times to allow access for emergency vehicles and residents.
2. The application to stay open for longer hours (i.e. till 6:00pm Monday – Saturday and 7:00pm on
Sunday) could cause problems for residents, especially those living opposite and adjacent to the
café. With regards to parking, the statement “there have not been any problems” is not true, hence
a request for double yellow lines. The application to open till 7:00pm could be followed by a further
application to open until 10:00pm thus giving the café a pub image.
3. The newly painted yellow lines would have served more purpose if they had been painted at both
ends of each side of the junction for a length of 10metres as stated in the Road Traffic Act. At
present any vehicle can park with 5.5 metres of one of the junctions.
4. The standard of workmanship on these newly painted double yellow lines is very poor, with areas
already worn off.
5. I have no problem with the café business itself, it is the inconsiderate customers who park causing
dangerous conditions that is the problem. The area is not suitable for the number of parked cars the
café can attract. There are only three designated parking places which have to serve both the café

Page 68

and the hairdressers next door. Parking on Preston Old Road also causes problems as it obstructs the
view of traffic trying to enter Preston Old Road from Kentmere Drive.

Objections – Michael Fawcett, 10 Kentmere Drive Rec 23.06.2020
Good afternoon
At the present time cooking smells pervade into our garden making it unpleasant to sit out.An
increase in opening hours will only make this worse.
There is the ever present noise levels with car doors slamming and turning in the private road to the
rear of the cafe this will increase with extra opening.
The patrons turning round in private driveways and parking problems are likely to multiply and
access to the estate compromised.
I hope careful consideration Is given to these points and the effects on nearby residents.

Objections – Mr David Taylor & Mrs Eileen Taylor, 17 Kentmere Drive Rec 22.06.2020
Further to the above application, we hereby wish to lodge an appeal with regard to the extension of
the opening hours at The Arches Cafe, 581-583 Preston Old Road.
Although the address states Preston Old Road, the cafe is situated at the entrance to the Kentmere
Drive housing estate, which is wholly a residential area.
Traffic on and off the estate and parking has already proved an issue ever since this property has
been an eating establishment. Complaints have been logged previously by ourselves and other
neighbours regarding this issue. To this end, pictures have been sent into the council and the local
councillor about the traffic issues and the danger caused by the number of cars parking near to the
cafe. We anticipate that this will only get worse should the cafe opening times be increased. The
amount of traffic and the haphazard parking is a health and safety risk - god forbid if an ambulance
or fire engine had to access or egress the estate when the cafe was busy!
Double yellow lines have already been placed near properties close to the shop, but this only sets to
shift the parking problem elsewhere, which will directly affect the area outside our property. We
already have major issues with cars, lorries, artic vehicles etc turning and reversing directly outside
our house, and strongly feel that the issue will be exacerbated with the increase of traffic to the
cafe. Furthermore, with the increase in traffic comes an increase in noise pollution in and around the
area, further disturbing the local residents.
We strongly request that you reject the application to extend the cafe opening times. We would be
happy to discuss my points in further detail if so required.

Page 69

Objections – Colin Ashcroft 4 Kentmere Drive, Rec 04.06.2020
To Mr Prescott,
With ref. to application 10/20/0453 the arches wishing to exstend opening hours. I would like to
object.It says in the application there have been no comlaints about the shop, possibly true. It is the
people who come to the shop in their cars that have caused the complaints. Seventeen residents
objected originally, because of parking, two were for the shop.
The residents close to the shops have had cars damaged and been abused, when asking patrons in
their cars to respect the residents and park legally. They have had driveways blocked and doubleparking, blocking the road/junction. The council has now put yellow lines on the junctions, due to
complaints from residents/parish council. These by the way are not long enough.
The original application said the shops were the hub of the community. If this was true, there would
be no problem, people would be walking to the shop instead of driving in
cars/tracktors/lorries.There are three spaces to park for the shop.
Since the Virus and the shop has been shut, there has been no problems with cars/lorries. As the
virus has not gone away. People who are not local will be coming to the shop queing outside,
blocking what's left of the pavement, due to the tables from the shop already blocking it.
There is only one way on and off the estate and should there be a need for emergency vehicles to
get through, there will be a problem. There are enough pubs in the area that would have been more
suitable for this venture, with parking, that have closed.It is unfortunate there is no parking, but that
is why you plan where you have a restaurant/cafe, not do it then apply for planning after.
I have lodged my objection, but don't expect it be taken notice of,as before, and like the residents on
Tower Rd.Most of them didn't want houses on their Green.

Support – Tony & Sue Fry, Unknown address, Rec 29.10.2020
We wanted to express our support for the arches restaurant in its planning permission application to
have their hours extended and eat alfresco . this establishment is a real enhancement to our area
and to the visual impact . The safety during the pandemic has been spot on

Page 70

Support – Eloise Howarth, Unknown address, Rec 21.10.2020
Good morning
I am writing in reference to the application reference no. 10/20/0453.
Being able to dine outside in your own local area during the covid 19 pandemic makes for a much
safer dining environment and one which myself and I’m sure all other residents would much prefer.
The dining area looks really attractive to the area and I think adds a lot of visual improvements

Support – Sue Walker, Unknown address, Rec 21.10.2020
I wish to support the application for planning ref 10/20/0453 I feel the Arches have provided a safe
environment for people to enjoy eating out and meeting family and friends during the pandemic
ensuring safety and security to customers. The improvements have a visual impact on the area and I
feel it is an asset to our area.

Support – Pete and Margaret Fullalove, 8 Springfield Ave, Rec 16.10.2020
To whom it may çoncern.
We write in support of the The Arches, Feniscowles, Blackburn. In their application to vary their
hours of trading and for the alfresco dining area.
The Arches provides quality wholesome and home cooked food with excellent personal service. They
have put into practice the required Covid safety regulations as per government guidelines. Being
able to vary their hours will enable this thriving and valued business to survive in the current
enviroment of restrictions.
The newly developed alfresco dining area adds a relaxed outdoor experience contributing to Covid
safety measures for those wishing to dine outside. This tastefully renovated area adds colour
through the flowers and adds to the visual appeal of the frontage of the building.
Following the closure of the Oyster and Otter . The Arches is the nearest cafe/restaurant offering a
quality service and is a valued community asset

Page 71

Support – Mr & Mrs Davies, Unknown Address, Rec 12.10.2020

Page 72

Support – Sue, 131 Lytham Rd, Rec 12.10.2020

Support – Christine Greenwood, Unknown Address, Rec 12.10.2020
We are in support of the application for varied hours of trading for the Arches. Since the pandemic
we have seen the work Simeon and Sharon have been doing to their business, and it is outstanding
and a credit to them, and the Arches is a success, as it is always in demand, its like a community hub,
all guide lines have been adhered to, the food is of good quality, and Simeone and Sharon, and their
lovely staff work very hard and put everything into their business.

Page 73

Support – Helen & Paul Earnshaw, Unknown Address, Rec 12.10.2020
We are writing in support of The Arches Coffee Shop’s plans to vary their hours of trading and erect
the al fresco dining area at the front of the shop. This has not only allowed them to continue to serve
their customers safely during these uncertain times but has also greatly enhanced the visual impact
of the business. We wish Simeon and Sharon all their best with their plans and hope you will take
into consideration the positive difference they will make.

Support – Michael & Beryl Jackson, 590 Preston Old Rd, Rec 09.10.2020

Support – Susan Piddington, 4 Cecilia Road, Rec 09.10.2020
I am writing to support the application of the Arches coffee shop to vary their hours of trading and
the al fresco dining area.
I feel completely safe when visiting,hand sanitizers readily available and social distance adhered to
at all times.
The outside area is lovely,its is visually superb, with newly improved decking and lighting and the
heat lamps for the cooler days.
I and my friends like to walk up to the Arches with the dogs, and sit outside with a coffee,and at
other times we go for lunch.
I feel the area has been enhanced by the arches and the improvements they have made,and in these
hard days we need to be thankful that lovely places like this

Page 74

are open for our enjoyment
Hope their application is successful

Support – Mrs B Walton, 18 Livesey Hall Cl, Cherrytree Rec 07.10.2020
I would like to support the application made by the Arches on Kentmere Drive The outside seating
area at cafe is very tastefully done and much improves the look of the whole building . For me
personally I enjoy having my coffee and food outside for 2 reasons I am over 60 and during these
times I feel more comfortable having my coffee and food outside.I also have dogs and it encourages
me to walk further because I know I can rest and have a drink . So I feel safe and I am exercising
more

Support – Joan Walker, Unknown Address, Rec 07.10.2020

Support – Mrs Audrey Clark, Unknown Address, Rec 06.10.2020
I am Mrs Audrey Clark and I wish to support the application by the owners of The Arches restaurant
and bar at Feniscowles, Blackburn, to vary their hours of trading and for the al fresco dining area,
reference number 10/20/0453, so that they can provide safely distanced seating for all their
customers, The owners are very conscious of the need to improve visual impact and safety during
the pandemic.

Page 75

Support – Mrs Kathryn O’Malley, 80 Woodlands Avenue, Cherry Tree, Rec 06.10.2020
I would like to contact you with regard to the above planning application and to offer my support for
this the changes have made the property very attractive and appealing visually and will allow
customers to enjoy eating there safely during the current pandemic as it allows outsiding eating
which reduces risks and allows proper spacing of the tables to meet covid safe rules and I fully
support the application.

Support – Rachel Norris, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
I am writing to support the planning application for the extension of the hours of opening. It’s a
brilliant cafe for the community and is thoroughly enjoyed by not only the residents in the
surrounding area but people from further afield.
The owners have improved the cafe to a high standard creating a beautifully well presented cafe,
that is very aesthetically pleasing, whilst following covid safety regulations in line with government
guidelines.
I hope you allow this application to progress for the greater good of the community.

Support – Louise Child, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
As a resident of the cherry tree area I would encourage the outdoor area at the arches cafe, it looks
great what they have created outside and with the current pandemic I think it is better for people to
be able to dine outside in fresh air than indoors for everybody’s safety.

Support – Michael and Heidi Rigby, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
To whom it may concern,
The Arches Café and Restaurant has been the best thing to happen to the feniscowles and cherry
tree area in years.
The council should support them with any and all of their plans for expansion and variance to
opening hours.
If only there where more businesses like this the area would be a much better place.
The community needs more eateries and leisure facilities with the arches being used as a wonderful
example.

Page 76

Support – Pamela Bedwell, Kentmere Drive Resident Rec 05.10.2020
I am writing in support of the above planning application for extended opening of The Arches in
Cherry tree.
The owners have worked tirelessly for the Cherry tree and Feniscowles community and beyond to
provide a wonderful place to eat and drink.
During our Coronavirus lockdown they provided a much appreciated takeaway and delivery service.
They have made the Arches visually very pleasing on the eye with lots of flowers and now provide al
fresco dining on theIr beautiful decking area.
Also since being able to open after lockdown they are COVID secure with sanitising, face masks and
track and trace. All this and still being respectful of the neighbourhood asking customers to be aware
of parking as not to upset the local residents.
I am sure the extended opening would be gratefully received by a great number of people as The
Arches is a wonderful place to visit.

Support – Lian Rose Frankland, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
My word . The arches cafe is just bob on.
I’ve just driven past and then had to stop to go in.
The lights look great. Pretty, classy ... so welcoming and calming .
It’s become even more important for home made food being served and to be able to go
somewhere pretty, clean and fun with my family especially during the pandemic.
The food is fab. Processes safe. I’ve felt safe eating in, getting a take away and the staff are very
clear with the processes- suitable clear signage - ppe.
It would be super to have the opening times to be longer .
We can nip for food and drink . We all need cheering up in a safe, pretty setting with home cooked
healthy foods.

Page 77

Support – Susanne Higgins, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
To whom it may concern
I am writing to support this application to extend opening hours and make provision for alfresco
dining. This is a thriving small business and they need to adjust how they operate in these difficult
times. The business is run by a hard working couple who are considerate of the neighbourhood. They
provide good quality food in an out of town area. The council should positively consider this
application to assist a good business to survive these difficult retailing/hospitality circumstances.
Approving these changes will enable them to continue to trade and to make sure they provide their
services in a Covid Secure manner.

Support – Carole Slater, The Stables, Bury Lane Rec 05.10.2020
The Arches is one of the few places where there is first-class food and first-class customer service. It
is also one of the most attractive and inviting businesses in the area.
The first-class customer service provided during the Covid-19 pandemic, with meticulous attention
to current restrictions, including social distancing, has made The Arches somewhere where you feel
'safe' to drink and/or eat and in a pleasant and relaxing environment.
Because the inside seating area is not expansive this customer service does, however, come at a cost
- it reduces the throughput of customers and therefore not only limits access by customers to a
great place, but also limits The Arches' income at what is already a difficult time.
Granting the proposed alterations would benefit customers and support The Arches to remain
viable.
Therefore, I fully support this application in all respects.

Support – Daryl Peter, Oakdene, Chorley Road Rec 05.10.2020
May I write in full support of the improvements being proposed for the above. When you consider
the state of the building and shop that was previously on this site, it is amazing how much better it
now looks and how it has lifted the area. It is clear the proprietors are absolutely committed to
delivering a lovely local and personal community service. And so to give them the opportunity to
further develop, especially in these awful times for businesses and the hospitality sector in
particular, it will be a much welcome success story.
The work undertaken by the proprietors is deserving of any benefits they can accrue. You can see
just from the prices they charge and the quality of the food they service, that they are not

Page 78

mercenary, high priced money makers. Their focus is the customer and the value they give to
customers is immense.
They have made the outside of the building truly charming and inviting whether the shop is open or
not. This could easily have been ignored but it is always full of colourful and natural looking plans
and flowers. Their image design and logo is really low key and yet so effective and they just blend in
with the surroundings leaving the flowers to give all the brightness of colour. It is always
immaculately clean both inside and out and whenever I have been in, there have been no issues
with social distancing and they have a system to ensure the restrictions are applied within the shop.
I am passionate about healthy living and encouraging people to eat good properly cooked fresh
food, and this place is second to none in my opinion. They are one of the few places where you can
say ‘takeaways are healthy’. Hence it is businesses like this that need to be encouraged as they
support the initiatives to combat obesity and other diseases which we know are prevalent. You can
tell they use fresh produce and cook from scratch and so show people how healthy food can taste so
good which again is what needs to be encouraged from school aged children upwards.
Obviously as stated earlier, current COVID restrictions have had a decimating impact on this sector
and from a model of having a groups in a close environment, we now have to recognise the need for
more space and the use of more ‘al fresco’ activities. Unfortunately, the business model of tea
shops was never about space but was about closeness and friendliness which has now been turned
on its head. So allowances have to be made to give them the space and extended opening times
needed to work in the new arrangements within the national restrictions whilst still being that
community hub.
The Arches is well positioning being a little out of town and so is a great meeting place for friends
and family (observing current restrictions but these will not be around forever so we must also be
cognisant of the future). Furthermore, this location is surrounded by great places for walkers,
including the proximity of the canal, and the Park. Similarly, it is in an ideal place for groups of
cyclists passing on the main road. So they are a facility for both experienced and moreover for
people who are just taking up activity, maybe those encouraged through lockdown. To be able to
stop for a break, and sit outside in a windproof area is ideal and will really encourage more activity
which again is a key message of the health strategy going forward. With the more inclement
weather approaching, this will be really useful.
In these current times, councils have a responsibility to support all businesses as they are the source
of employment and revenues for the local area. I don’t expect this shop to be a large employer but
it does employ staff and moreover has the younger staff and so any opportunity to further this must
be supported.
Therefore, in conclusion, I would like to fully support all the developments applied for by the
proprietors for which an application is being considered.

Page 79

Support – Lorraine, The Buckley Family Livesey Branch Road Rec 05.10.2020
As a resident of Feniscowles I would like to give my support to the planning application of The
Arches Cafe. The improvements they have made to the inside and outside are astheticaly pleasing
and make the area look much nicer. I feel completely safe from Covid when I visit and feel they are
making every effort possible to keep customers and staff safe. This cafe is very well supported and
respected in the area and is a much needed service. We fully support this application and urge the
council to do so.

Support – Mr . E Lomas, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020

I have been a patron of the Arches since they first opened for business. I have seen that they are
seeking support in this time and wish to write to this effect.
I have witnessed the business grow each year and can state, with whole hearted honesty, that it has
never looked such an appealing place to visit. They have produced an aesthetically supreme dining
area that has improved the visual impact of the locality. This work has also allowed them to provide
extra safety for diners during the covid 19 pandemic. Please note their hard work in creating such a
beautiful outdoor space.
I believe that this small, local business has gone above and beyond in their efforts to safely continue
providing such a stunning service to the local community. I would ask that you take heed of the
tireless efforts undertaken by this family run business during such difficult times where livelihoods
are at risk.

Support – Alan Bedwell, 21 Kentmere Drive Rec 05.10.2020

I am writing to support the application by The Arches, for a slightly later closing time. As a very
nearby resident (approx 150 yards away!), I fully appreciate their efforts to improve the local
community, by providing a wonderful service in these dark times. Pre- Covid, the Arches was a good
place to meet and eat. Now it is an important part of so many peoples' lives. The owners kept going
during the Lockdown by providing a takeaway service. Now, so many people go there to 'take a deep
breath,' and relax, eat wonderful food, knowing that all sanitary and safety measures have been
taken. Unfortunately, due to spacing requirements, fewer customers than normal have been able to
take advantage of this service, so it is sensible and logical to ask for slightly longer opening hours.
More people, therefore, would benefit.
The requested finish time would not cause any problems regarding disturbances. Most customers
are on the wrong side of 40 years, with many being over 60. NOT an issue!

Page 80

In relation to parking, every effort has been made by The Arches to ask customers to park sensibly,
preferably on the main road. This seems to have worked very well. Customers have parked outside
my house on occasion. NOT a problem, they pay their car tax! My drive has never been blocked.
Recently, the owners have ploughed their own money into improving the outside eating area. Hope
you've seen it. Beautiful! How good is that for raising the community appearance and standing?!
Apologies for rambling, please allow the application.

Support – Neil Rutter, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020

I have been eating at the Arches since they opened, and love the place. This small business really
makes a great hub of our community. The owners and staff go above and beyond, and I hope they
are around for years to come. If you have never eaten there I could highly recommend it, as others
would too. Since they have taken the shop on, they have improved the aesthetics and continue to.
They have complied with the covid laws, and hope you support them with their plans to make
further improvements. I feel this eatery is a great asset to our community.

Support – Toni Campbell, Unknown Address Rec 05.10.2020
Re: Improvements to visual impact and opening times during pandemic.
I am very impressed with the way The archers cafe Blackburn have made improvements to keep the
public safe during pandemic. I would like to support the increase of opening hours as it would be
beneficial to all concerned and would really lift the spirit of the local people.
The improvements they have made to the venue is outstanding, I feel very safe using the facilities
and I really hope that the opening times can be extended.
Many thanks for your time.

Support – Lucy Slater, Unknown Address Rec 02.10.2020
I support the application made by The Arches in Feniscowles to vary their opening hours.
They have made significant improvements to visual impact and have gone above and beyond to
prioritise customer safety during the pandemic.

Page 81

Support – Angela McKay, 97 Old Gates Drive, Rec 29.09.2020

Hello,
I wish to support the Arches Cafe in their application to stay open until 6.30 p.m. The cafe is an
important hub and meeting place especially for those of us in the local community. It is the only
place, within walking distance, where those of us who are living alone and getting on in years can get
a healthy and nutritious meal without having to resort to public transport. It would be particularly
advantageous if it could stay open until 6.30 p.m. thereby enabling us to have an afternoon tea/
coffee and cake or an evening meal either sitting in or as a takeaway. As a regular user I would be
delighted if I could stroll down in the afternoon without having to worry about having to leave
before 4.00 p.m. Please look favourably on their application; it is a much needed resource in these
difficult times.

Page 82

Agenda Item 4.4
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/20/0459

Proposed development:
Change of Use of Vacant land to A4 use
Classification including erection of pergola, shipping container and other
associated alterations
Site address:
1A Church Bank Street
Vacant Land to NE (side) of Cin Cin
Darwen
BB3 3HA
Applicant: Mr Dominic Holmes
Ward: Darwen East
Councillor: Paul Browne
Councillor: Roy Davies
Councillor: Jane Oates
___________________________________________________________________
GR
EEN
STR
EET
EAS
T

(PH)

23

22

12

osts
fP
eo
Lin

Market Hall

27

The Old Chapel

LB

13

15
14
16

Statue
Garage

Shelters

18
17

31

15

19

to
29

Darw en
Heritage Centre

EET
STR
NT
ME
LIA
PAR

T
EE
TR
TS
OF
CR

13

2

Shelters
163.7m

St Peter's Church

157.9m

rd
Wa

EET
STR
RCH
CHU

y
Bd

4
6
CHURCH TERRACE

8

4

2

2

11
LB

Millstone

154.5m

2

Hotel

NK
BA

ET
RE
ST

Bank
House

166.4m

CH
UR
CH

10

Posts

Post Office

1
ET
TRE
KS
BAN

5

1a

1

1
2 to

6

5

13

EET
STR
RIA
VICTO

Crest

P

19

19

11

17

s
Post

14

18

30

33

Works

to
27

b
Clu

21 23

ST
R
EE
T

21

AVE
BELGR
RE
SQUA

War Memorial

to

Works

9

B
R
ID
G
E

8 to 10

8

15

TCB

Corn

20

5

Posts

ET
RE
ST
TH
BA

154.5m

35

3

21

11 13

20

2

37
39

24
22 to

D

ROA
ELL
SUD

to
47

Car Park

51

ST
R
EE
T

31

43

FO
U
N
D
R
Y

17

G Yd

to 21

Belgrav e Chapel

ROAD
BOLTON

1 to 21

164.9m

28

15
El Sub Sta

1

157.9m

27

Darw en Aldridge Community Academy

1 to 3

James Court

AN
M
RD
HA

AY
W

35
157.9m

158.8m

d Bdy
War

y
Ward Bd

43 to 47

Superstore

Page 83

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions; as set out in paragraph 4.1.

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1.1 This application is before the Committee due to the public interest in the case,
including the receipt of 8 public objections and 21 letters of support, in
accordance with the Chair Referral Process as part of the Scheme of
Delegation.
2.1.2 The development will deliver a quality scheme, which will enhance the
external setting of the Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area. As well as
the visual benefits of the development, the expansion of the existing
commercial bar use will supplement the existing retail and leisure offers within
the Darwen Town Centre area, thereby contributing towards the sustainability
of the historic host building and Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area.
2.1.3 Accordingly, the proposal is consistent with the Borough’s overarching growth
strategy. It is also satisfactory from a technical point of view, with all issues
having been addressed through the application, or capable of being controlled
or mitigated through planning conditions.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site is located off Church Bank Street in the centre of the
Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area, which was originally designated in
1996 and extended in 2005. The character of the area is principally made-up
of commercial properties; primarily retail and leisure with shops, pubs, bars
and restaurants. Towards the eastern end of Church Street is St. Peter’s
Church and beyond that at the eastern and northern edge of the conservation
area the character changes and becomes largely domestic with stone fronted
terraced houses laid out in a recognisable grid pattern.
3.1.2 1A Church Bank Street is a two-storey, stone constructed property dating from
the late C19. At the rear of the property the character of the area is typically
unrefined and irregular with bin stores, car parking and fire escapes etc. The
application site is generally undeveloped and is currently used as an informal
parking area, as well as a temporary outdoor drinking area under the provisions
of Schedule 2, Part 4, Class B of The Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended)
3.1.3 The overall site is approximately 10m x 20m and adjoined to the north by
Church Bank Street, to the east by Bathurst Street, to the south by an informal
parking area and to the west by a section of unadopted highway that serves
the rears of properties along Bridge Street.

Page 84

Photograph of application site

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Full planning permission is sought for a change of use of the land to form a
beer garden to serve the adjacent Cin Cin bar. The proposal would see the
installation of: masonry walls with iron railings above, a pergola adjacent to
Church Bank Street, a shipping container to be used for storage and as a bar.
Two additional ornamental pergolas will be erected adjacent to the proposed
container. Further fencing will be erected to the east and western borders with
removable panels.

Page 85

Extract from amended proposed floor plan 11th September 2020

3.2.2 The proposed wall and pergola will be erected adjacent to the northern
boundary which is adjacent to Church Bank Street, with a maximum overall
height of 4.5m. The shipping container (6m x 2.44m x 2,5m high) will be sited
to the southern edge of the site with 2 further pergolas adjacent to the
container. A specimen tree will be located to the approximate centre of the
site.

Page 86

Extract from amended proposed elevations plan 11th September 2020

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy

CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy

CS16 – Form and Design of New Development

CS17 – Built and Cultural Heritage
3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2

Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development

Policy 8 – Development and People

Policy 9 – Development and the Environment

Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport

Policy 11 – Design

Policy 26 – Town Centres: A Framework for Development.

Policy 39 – Heritage

Page 87

3.4

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework)- 2019

Section 2: Achieving sustainable development

Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy

Section 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres

Section 12: Achieving well-designed places

Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment
3.4.2 Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area Appraisal
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 In assessing this full application there are a number of important material
considerations that need to be taken into account, as follows:






Principle of the development
Amenity impacts
Design impacts
Heritage impacts
Highway impacts

3.5.2 Principle
As a site located with the Inner Urban Area of Darwen and Darwen Town
Centre, designated as a Primary Shopping Area, the proposal is consistent
with the Policies CS1 and CS16 of the Development Plan which state that the
urban area is the preferred location for new development.
3.5.3 Policy 26 supports development involving main town centres uses within the
town centres. Restaurants and cafes are defined as such in the Development
Plan Glossary, which is consistent with the definitions offered for such uses in
The Framework. Furthermore, Policy 26 supports protection and expansion of
the leisure offer within town centres and development of an evening economy,
including restaurants and cafes, including within the defined Northgate
Quarter of Blackburn Town Centre.
3.5.4 Accordingly, the principle of the development is supported, in accordance with
polices CS1, 1 and 26 of the Development Plan. It is also consistent with The
Framework’s economic and environmental objectives of sustaining viable
town centres.
3.5.5 Amenity
Policy 8 requires a satisfactory level of amenity and safety is secured for
surrounding uses and for occupants or users of the development itself; with
reference to noise, vibration, odour, light, dust, other pollution or nuisance,
privacy / overlooking, and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.7 The proposal poses no undue concerns with reference to privacy / overlooking
or relationship between buildings.

Page 88

3.5.8 The most significant element for Members to consider relates to the creation of
the beer garden and the potentially adverse impact of this upon the amenity of
surrounding commercial and residential uses.
3.5.9 Objections to the scheme are set out in full within section 9 of this report. They
originate from both commercial and residential premises and principally raise
concerns with noise/music emanating from the main building and disturbance
arising from the users of the external seating area. Wider concerns with litter
and nuisance from patrons accessing/egressing the site are also raised.
Comments received from Ainsworth Funerals, who lay in close proximity to
the east of the site, identify concerns from music and other disturbance within
the beer garden conflicting with the nature of their own business which
regularly involves bereaved families visiting their premises during the day,
evenings and at weekends. Residential objections also raise the issue of late
night noise.
3.5.10 The application has been supplemented by a noise report (C80 Solutions:
reference 11363), which has been undertaken to predict the impact of the
proposed development on the nearest noise sensitive receptors (NSR’s). An
unattended noise survey was completed over the period 27th July to 1st August
2020. This data was subsequently used to assess the predicted noise levels
from the new development on the local environment.
3.5.11 The noise levels were recorded in decibels (dB) and recorded as L AEQ, L90
and LAFmax. The sound was measured throughout the day. This is to ensure
the sounds levels adhere to the World Health Organisation guidelines (WHO),
3.5.12 The noise report concludes that;
- Potential impacts of noise resulting from the operation of the outdoor bar/
seating area are likely to include (i) Patron noise i.e. conversations (ii)
Amplified Background music
- The Patron noise as predicted in the assessment should not interfere with
the nearest noise sensitive dwellings, and the effect of a noise barrier would
further attenuate the sound emitting from the outdoor bar/seating area. This
would be recommended at the given height of 4m , to fully achieve the desired
effect.
- Noise limits on speakers placed outdoor for background music should not
exceed 65dB and should exceed this as to not impact the dwellings or chapel
of rest.
- If looking at the National Planning policy framework this should have the No
Observed Effect Level against the outdoor area.
- On the basis of this assessment it is considered that the outdoor bar/ seating
area would not pose a nuisance to the local area and no effects to quality of
life to the nearest dwellings, as long as the measures described were taken;
(1) Noise limiter on outdoor music at 65dB7, and (2) Noise Barrier lined with

Page 89

Sound mitigating substance i.e rubber render, acoustic lining as long as it has
SRI 20dB or more.
3.5.13 The Council’s Head of Public Protection has appraised the submitted noise
report and application details and advises;
“The proposed outdoor seating area is likely to cause noise nuisance loss of
amenity at premises in the immediate locality. Complaints have been received
by the Council due to noisy late evening and night-time use of the application
site within the last 12 months and local government officers have witnessed
use of the site by Cin Cin likely to cause noise disturbance. However, I am
aware that Café Pavement Licences have been issued to Cin Cin in recent
years that have not caused significant street noise disturbance or given rise to
noise nuisance complaints - I note that these Licences allow use of the
pavement outdoor space until 21:00hrs each evening.
A significant factor in the level of disturbance caused is the number and
noisiness of customers using the outdoor area; the latter being affected by the
amount of alcohol consumed by customers into the late evening/night-time
period. Clearly, alcohol consumption increases during the evening/night-time
period with a consequent increase in customer noise level with raised voices,
loud laughter and occasional shouting becoming frequent. In addition, the
assessment and control of customer noise is subject to significant uncertainty
because the level of noise a group of customers will generate is
unpredictable, highly variable and difficult to manage. This is why it is
essential to apply a precautionary approach to ensure that an acceptable
standard of residential amenity is maintained in the locality.
I note that the report conclusions recommend approval of this application with
conditions. It also recognises that the recordings were undertaken during a
period of lockdown due to the Covid 19 pandemic and, as a consequence,
some of the measurements taken may not be a full representation of the
proposed site noise environment. The report refers to British Standard (BS)
4142 ‘Methods for rating and assessing industrial and commercial sound’, this
is not an appropriate reference for the assessment of music and other
entertainment or people noise amenity impact.
However, I am aware that Café Pavement Licences have been issued in the
locality for pavement/street use up to 21:00hrs each evening that have not
caused significant street noise disturbance or given rise to noise nuisance
complaints. Additionally, the Environmental Protection Service has recently
recommended a premises licence condition restricting outdoor hours of use to
22:00hrs each evening at the application premises.
I recommend approval of the application with a 10pm hours of use restriction
for the external seating area, ensuring consistency with the above mentioned
premises licence hours restriction, to minimise the likelihood of significant loss
of amenity arising from the outdoor seating and decking areas”.
Additionally, “It is the experience of the Environmental Protection Service that
the control of outdoor amplified music by business operators doesn’t work –

Page 90

the temptation to increase music to unacceptably loud levels is too hard to
resist. I am also aware that the conditioned approval of applications based
upon the implementation of ‘Noise Management Plans’ by business operators
is not favoured by Development Management as enforcement is problematic.
I, therefore, recommend that the playing of amplified music in the outdoor
seating area is prohibited by condition.
Finally, with reference to noise mitigation measures, a four metre high
acoustic barrier, recommended in the submitted acoustics assessment:
‘Proposed Planning Assessment: Noise risk assessment – BS4142:2014’
(Ref: 11363), Section 7: ‘Proposed Development and Noise Abatement’:
‘Noise Barrier’, shall be constructed prior to commencement of the approved
use and thereafter retained for the duration of this use”.
3.5.14 Further conditions relating to the need to agree a flood lighting scheme prior
to its installation and standard hours of construction (8 am to 6pm Monday to
Friday, 9am to 1pm Saturday, no site operations on Sundays and Bank
Holidays) shall also be imposed.
3.5.15 Subject to the restrictions outlined above, compliance with Policy 8 is
achieved.
3.5.16 Design / Heritage
Policy 11 requires a good standard of design that should enhance and
reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area. Policy 39 requires development with the potential to affect
designated or non-designated heritage assets to sustain or enhance the
significance of the asset. In this context, the proposal is supported by
submission of a Heritage Statement.
3.5.17 The principle statutory duty under the Planning (Listed Building and
Conservation Areas) Act 1990 is to preserve the special character of heritage
assets, including their setting. With reference to Conservation Areas, LPA’s
should pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area and consider the impacts on character
and appearance (which includes its setting) separately.
Development
proposals need to satisfy both aspects (to preserve or enhance) to be
acceptable.
3.5.18 The Framework includes direction that LPA’s should take account of;

The desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of
heritage assets and putting them to viable uses consistent with their
conservation;

The positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make
to sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and

The desirability of new development making a positive contribution to
local character and distinctiveness.

Page 91

P.193 states that when considering the impact of proposals on the significance of
a designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's
conservation. The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be
applied. This is irrespective of whether any harm is identified as being
substantial, total loss or less than substantial harm to its significance.
P.196 identifies that where a proposal would lead to less than substantial harm to
the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed
against the public benefits of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing
its optimum viable use.
3.5.19 Policy CS16: Form and Design of New Development requires new development
to be of a high standard of design, and to respect and reinforce local character.
Particular attention must be paid to all of the following:
i. Character
ii. Townscape
iii. Public realm
iv. Movement and legibility
v. Sustainability
vi. Diversity
vii. Colour
Development in prominent locations, in areas of major change and on transport
gateways will be required to demonstrate particularly high standards of design.
3.5.20 A Design & Access Statement and Heritage Statement have been submitted
in support of the application. The submissions advises that; “the proposed
development will be designed in a similar style to the main Cin Cin building: a
sand stone facade will face onto Church Bank Street and act as pillars at the
ends of the proposed walls. This sand stone reflects the heritage of the
industry in Darwen and improves the primary interaction of the site and the
Townscape. Additionally, the two pillars forming the entrance to the site create
a stronger unique identity for the site whilst maintaining flexibility of access;
these pillars could also provide opportunity for planting (at the seating level).
Distinctive fencing is proposed to form the north western boundary treatment,
as shown on the proposed elevations. This will be made from steel, fabricated
by a local metal worker and will make a positive contribution to the locality by
breaking up the monotony of the insignificant rear elevations of buildings
surrounding the site.
The proposed bar will be set back from the main road and will not be
prominently visible hence will have minimal effect on the winder conservation
area. The pergola is sited towards the south western boundary and has been
designed to reflect the undulation of the “steeply sloping hills” as identified in
the SPD when defining the character of Darwen. The central valley in the
pergola represents the valley in which Darwen is located; the Pergola hence
comprises considered, location specific design. It will be finished in black paint
to blend into the townscape. Paragraph 5.2 of the conservation area appraisal

Page 92

identified a lack of green spaces and this has been addressed by the inclusion
of the trees on the proposed plans”.
3.5.21 The submitted details have been reviewed by the Council’s Heritage and
Conservation consultee, who offered the following comments:
“The application is to change the use from ‘assumed’ vacant land to A4 use with
the installation of a shipping container, outdoor seating, pergola, lighting and
boundary wall and railings. The vacant land in question is beyond the associated
land of Cin Cin whose current boundary would logically appear to be defined by
the existing remains of a low boundary wall and a change in surface level (where
the bin store is currently located). The vacant land has no through-road for
vehicles but it can be passed through by pedestrians. It is appreciated the space
will be difficult to use other than for activities such as deliveries and associated
parking.
It is understood the land has been used as an outdoor drinking area in recent
but this has been on a temporary basis. The application seeks to establish the
area for outdoor drinking on a permanent basis and to define the space to make it
more user-friendly and attractive.
The development site is directly adjacent to a Funeral Directors that is a long two
storey building clad in pebble dash and on the northern side of this building are
stone fronted terraced houses that are also included in the Conservation Area
(CA). This part of the CA is at the junction where residential use meets
commercial and leisure; it is suggested the Funeral Directors and the vacant land
currently acts as a border or buffer between the two distinctive areas.
Whilst I do not necessarily feel the existing space is a positive one to the
character and appearance of the CA I find the introduction of a permanent
outdoor drinking space will be somewhat incongruous and incompatible with the
wider character of the area.
The proposed location, size of the
structures/boundary treatments will create an odd ‘walled’ space which has little
or no use other than in the evenings/night time. Physically I find the ‘island –
space’ will appear out of context with its surroundings, visually disconnected from
the host buildings that would not in my view contribute positively to the
established urban grain of the conservation area.
The design of the wall, pergola and railings is interesting and decorative however
I find the principle of the use of the site objectionable and therefore the structures
are largely irrelevant to my assessment. Regardless the design proposals do not
in my view fit well with the modest nature of the neighbouring buildings nor does
it reflect the plain character of Church Bank Street.
Overall I find the harm to the CA to be of a moderate scale within the definition of
‘less than substantial’ and therefore needs to be assessed under P.196 of the
NPPF. The LPA can consider and weigh the harm against any public benefits of
the development.”

Page 93

3.5.22 Members are advised that despite the reservations offered by the conservation
officer a refusal on heritage grounds would be difficult to substantiate given that
less than substantial harm is identified. Importantly the site is not within a
prominent location within the Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area, whilst it
also lacks any cohesive style or character. Furthermore, when considering the
socio-economic advantages of bringing this undeveloped parcel of land in to
meaningful use then compliance with Paragraph 196 of the NPPF can be
considered to be achieved.
3.5.23 Subject to conditions relating to (i) further details of the appearance of the
pergolas, and (ii) Further details of the appearance of the masonry walling and
any sound insulation surfacing, the proposals are considered to respond
positively and would leave the Darwen Town Centre Conservation Area
unharmed. Furthermore, the proposals serve to help secure a long term viable
use for the otherwise vacant premises.
3.5.24 Highways:
Policy 10 of the Local Plan Part 2 deals with accessibility and transport
issues. Amongst other considerations, development will be permitted by
Policy 10 where it has been demonstrated road safety is not compromised
and appropriate off-street servicing and parking in accordance with the
Council’s adopted standards are achieved.
3.5.25 The application site has previously functioned as a car park, prior to the
disposal of the land by the Council. A number of the public objections cite the
loss of the parking facility, though given the site is now in private ownership
there is no obligation for the land to remain as a parking facility for use by
neighbouring premises or the general public.
3.5.26 The Council’s highway officer has indicated that due to the town centre
location of the site there would be no parking requirement generated by the
additional bar facility. Similarly, it has been confirmed that the amended site
plan does not impinge on to any adopted highway.
3.5.27 Public objections include concerns that the new walled structure will prevent
vehicle movements along Bath Street, as well as leading to the temporary
blocking of the unadopted highway that serves the rear of properties on
Bridge Street. In the first instance, as has been confirmed by the highway
officer, the proposals do not impinge on the highway, rather it is a reliance of
the vehicles passing along Bath Street to overrun the site. Given this amounts
to a land ownership issue the Council cannot obligate the applicant to allow
these vehicle movements, as such, refusal cannot therefore be warranted.
Similarly, with the temporary blockage of the unadopted section of back street
on the western boundary of the site, that has been raised by the objectors.
Any blockage due to patrons moving to and from the bar to the beer garden
will be short-lived. Given that the adopted section of the back street is short
and is a dead-end there would be no obvious conflict with highway safety that
cannot be satisfactorily managed. Complaints relating to blockage of the back
street by parked vehicles or bins are noted, though given this appears to be

Page 94

an ongoing issue unrelated to the proposed beer garden use then refusal of
the current application cannot be substantiated.
3.5.28 The servicing needs of the business are unlikely to alter significantly given the
beer garden expansion. It is anticipated that this will occur from Church Bank
Street as has been the case previously when the informal parking area was
already in use, or when the site was in use as a temporary drinking area (as
approved by 10/20/0608). This arrangement to be serviced from the street is
not uncommon for other businesses in the immediate locality and can be
accepted without obvious detriment to highway safety.
3.5.29 Summary
This report assesses the full range of material issues affecting this planning
application to inform a balanced recommendation that demonstrates
compliance with the Development Plan and The Framework.
4

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Approve subject to:
Delegated authority is given to the Director for Growth and Development
to approve planning permission, subject to conditions which relate to
the following matters:
 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this planning permission.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, details
of the sound insulation properties and appearance of the boundary wall
materials shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA.
The development shall be in accordance with the agreed details
REASON: To mitigate the impacts of noise and to ensure the external
appearance of the building is acceptable within the conservation area
in accordance with Policies 8, 11 and 39 of the Blackburn With Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 Prior to the commencement of development hereby approved, precise
details of the siting and appearance of the pergola structures shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The development
shall be in accordance with the agreed details
 REASON: To ensure the external appearance of the building is
acceptable within the conservation area in accordance with Policies 8,
11 and 39 of the Blackburn With Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 The use of the outdoor seating area shall be restricted to 10am to
10pm daily.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 There shall be no external amplified music within the outdoor seating
area at all times.

Page 95

REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 There shall be no floodlighting within the outdoor seating area unless a
scheme is submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning
authority.
Such a scheme shall be implemented and retained
thereafter.
REASON: To safeguard the amenities of the nearby commercial and
residential properties in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn With
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
 Prior to first use of the beer garden, a landscaping scheme, including
details of hard surfacing, shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the LPA. The approved scheme shall be implemented in the first
available planting season following development.
REASON: In the interests of visual amenity in accordance with Policy 9
of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2
 Construction shall only take place between the hours of 08:00 and
18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and not at all on
Sundays or Bank Holidays.
REASON: To protect the amenity of residents in accordance with
Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
5

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1 10/20/0608 – Certificate of Lawfulness: Temporary use of the land for outdoor
drinking area (Approved August 2020)
5.2 10/15/1152 – Full Planning Application: Change of use from Office (B1) and
Residential (C3) to drinking establishment (A4) involving modifications to front
facade and internal alterations (Approved March 2016)

6

CONSULTATIONS

6.1 Heritage & Conservation
Overall I find the harm to the CA to be of a moderate scale within the definition of
‘less than substantial’ and therefore needs to be assessed under P.196 of the
NPPF. The LPA can consider and weigh the harm against any public benefits of
the development.

6.2 Public Protection
No objection subject to the following conditions:
- Use of outdoor seating area restricted to 10am to 10pm, daily.
- No external amplified music
- 4m acoustic barrier with sound proofing details to be agreed.
- No flood lighting within the outdoor seating area unless approved in writing
by the LPA
- Construction hours restriction, 8am to 6pm Monday to Friday, 9am to 1pm
Saturday, no site operations Sundays and Bank Holidays

Page 96

6.2 Environmental Services
No objection
6.3 Public Consutlation
In accordance with the provisions of the Procedure Order, 47 neighbouring
premises have been consulted by letter, site notices displayed and press
notices issued. The consultation process has been repeated following the
receipt of amended details. 16 letters of objection have been received and 21
letters of support, they are set out within section 9 of this report.
6.4 Highways:
No objection. Revised scheme does not impinge on any adopted or unadopted
highway. The town centre location of the development negates the need to
provide parking in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
7 CONTACT OFFICER:
Martin Kenny, Principal Planning Officer –
Development Management.
8 DATE PREPARED: 9th November 2020.

Page 97

9 SUMMARY OF REPRESENTATIONS
Objection - Gillian Fox - Bridge St Chiropody, 9 Bridge Street, Darwen. Rec – 17/06/2020

Page 98

Objection - Gillian Fox - Bridge St Chiropody, 9 Bridge Street, Darwen. Rec – 25/09/2020

Page 99

Objection – Janet Cowley, 23 Bridge Street, Darwen. Rec – 17/06/2020

Page 100

Objection Edwin Ainsworth Ltd, Funeral Directors, Church Bank Street, Darwen. Rec – 19/06/2020

Page 101

Objection – Edwin Ainsworth Ltd, Funeral Directors, Church Bank Street, Darwen. – Rec –
22/06/2020

Page 102

Objection – Anonymous – 2 Bath Street, Darwen. Rec – 22/06/2020

Objection – Mr & Mrs Arnold, 23 & 25 Bridge Street & 2 & 2A Bath Street, Darwen. Rec –
22/06/2020

Page 103

Page 104

Page 105

Page 106

Page 107

Objection – Mr & Mrs Arnold, 23 & 25 Bridge Street & 2 & 2A Bath Street, Darwen. Rec –
24/06/2020

Objection – John N Jacklin – Gorse Barn, Rock Lane, Darwen. Rec – 23/06/2020

Page 108

Objection – Revd Kenneth Howles, St Georges Church, Mill Hill, Blackburn. Rec – 23/06/2020

Objection – Terry Tennens, The National Society of Allied & Independent Funeral Directors.
Rec – 23/06/2020

Page 109

Page 110

Page 111

Objection – Peter S Jackson – Rec – 23/06/2020

Objection – Anoymous. Rec – 24/06/2020

Page 112

Objection – Phil Coughlin, Bridge Street Sports & Social Club, Darwen. Rec – 25/06/2020

Page 113

Objection – Phil Coughlin, Bridge Street Sports & Social Club, Darwen. Rec – 20/08/2020

Page 114

Page 115

Objection – Phil Coughlin, Bridge Street Sports & Social Club, Darwen. Rec – 24/09/2020

Page 116

Objection – K M Knowles, 12 Alexandra View, Darwen. Rec – 25/06/2020

Objection – Brian & Marion Isherwood, Holmesdale, 22 Chapman Road, Darwen. – Rec
25/06/2020

Page 117

Support – Numerous copies of letter received (21no).

Page 118

Agenda Item 4.5
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

Plan No: 10/20/0464

Proposed development: Reserved Matters Application: Approval of Reserved
Matters for appearance, landscaping, layout and scale for 5no. dwellings,
pursuant to outline permission 10/18/0183.
Site address:
Wayoh Barn
Blackburn Road
Edgworth
Bolton
BL7 0PZ
Applicant: Mr John Czutkwona
Ward: West Pennine

RO
M
AN

RO
AD

B
LA
C
K
B
U
R
N

R
O
A
D

Track

Councillor Colin Rigby
Councillor Jean Rigby
Councillor Julie Slater

237.4m

Tr
ac
k

Pond

Ruin

Wayoh

Wayoh Barn

Fold Cottage

229.8m

Pond

W ayoh F arm
Bungalow

Barn
2

Issues

Cottages

1

House
Coach
Cottages

2

Issues

Page 119

1.0

SUMMARY OF RECOMMENDATION

1.1

APPROVE – Subject to conditions set out in paragraph 4.1 of this report

2.0

KEY ISSUES/SUMMARY OF PLANNING BALANCE

2.1

The application is presented to Committee for determination through the Chair
referral scheme, as a consequence of an objection raised by North Turton
Parish Council.

2.2

The planning application is submitted in the form of a Reserved Matters
proposal; pursuant to Outline Planning Permission granted for the demolition
of the existing commercial storage building and erection of up to 5no.
dwellings, including associated access, in 2018. Outline permission was
granted subject to a suite of 12 conditions which are appended to this report
(Appendix 1). Those conditions requiring action prior to commencement or
occupation of the development will be assessed under a separate condition
discharge application. They are not, therefore, matters associated with this
assessment, with the exception of landscaping.

2.3

Members are advised that under the outline permission, the principle of a
residential development of up to 5no. dwellings with associated access
arrangements from Blackburn Road, is previously accepted by the Council.
This application seeks permission for the remaining reserved matters; limited
to consideration of appearance, landscape, layout and scale.

2.4

The assessment establishes that the proposal corresponds with the
Development Plan and The Framework. It suitably demonstrates delivery of a
high quality development on Previously Developed Land (Brownfield) that
would contribute towards the Council’s housing delivery target, adding choice
and vitality to the local housing market. Moreover, from a technical point of
view, all issues have been addressed through the application or are capable
of being controlled or mitigated through planning conditions.

3.0

RATIONALE

3.1

Site and Surroundings

3.1.1 The application site lies within an area of Countryside (as allocated by the
Local Plan Part 2). It comprises a redundant commercial storage building,
clad in corrugated steel and associated hard surface infrastructure, amounting
to 0.218 hectares (0.5 acres) in area, at an elevated position in relation to
Blackburn Road to the west, from where it is accessed. To the immediate
north sits the applicants dwelling known as Wayoh Barn. The village
boundary of Edgworth lies circa 1200 to the south east. The site formerly
hosted the applicant’s builders business and was used for storage of

Page 120

associated building materials and machinery. Photographs below show the
building and its immediate surroundings within the application site.

Page 121

3.2

Proposed Development

3.2.1 Approval of Reserved Matters relating to appearance, landscaping, layout and
scale for 5no. dwellings, pursuant to outline permission 10/18/0183.

Page 122

Extract from submitted proposed site plan.

3.3

Development Plan

3.3.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires
that applications be determined in accordance with the development plan
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
3.3.2 The Development Plan comprises the Core Strategy and adopted Local Plan
Part 2 – Site Allocations and Development Management Policies. In
determining the current proposal the following are considered to be the most
relevant policies:
3.3.3 Core Strategy





CS1 – A Targeted Growth Strategy
CS5 – Locations for New Housing
CS6 – Housing Targets
CS7 – Types of Housing

Page 123





CS15 – Ecological Assets
CS16 – Form and Design of New Development
CS18 – The Borough’s Landscapes

3.3.4 Local Plan Part 2










3.4

Policy 5 – Countryside Areas
Policy 7 – Sustainable and Viable Development
Policy 8 – Development and People
Policy 9 – Development and the Environment
Policy 10 – Accessibility and Transport
Policy 11 – Design
Policy 18 – Housing Mix
Policy 28 – Developer Contributions
Policy 39 – Heritage
Policy 41 – Landscape

Other Material Planning Considerations

3.4.1 Residential Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document
3.4.2 National Planning Policy Framework (The Framework)
Overall, The Framework aims to raise economic performance by ensuring the
quantity, quality and mix of housing reflect that required, with an expectation
to maintain a 5-year housing land supply. Quality design should be secured
and environmental impacts minimised. Effective use of under-used or vacant
land is also advocated. Areas of The Framework especially relevant to the
proposal are as follows:

Delivering a sufficient supply of homes

Building a strong, competitive economy

Making effective use of land

Achieving well-designed places

Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change

Conserving and enhancing the natural environment.
3.5

Assessment

3.5.1 As aforementioned, assessment of this Reserved Matters application is limited
the following:




Appearance: Aspects of a building or place which affect the way it
looks, including the exterior of the development.
Landscaping: The improvement or protection of the amenities of the
site and the surrounding area; this could include planting trees or
hedges as a screen.
Layout: Includes buildings, routes and open spaces within the
development and the way they are laid out in relation to buildings,
routes and open space outside the development.

Page 124



Scale: Includes information on the size of the development, including
the height, width and length of each proposed building.

3.5.2 Policy 18 requires detached and semi-detached housing to be the principal
element of the dwelling mix on any site that is capable of accommodating
such housing and where such housing would make a positive contribution to
the local character.
3.5.3 Policy 8 requires development to contribute positively to the overall physical,
social, environmental and economic character of the area, as well as securing
satisfactory levels of amenity and safety for surrounding uses and for
occupants or users of the development itself; with reference to privacy /
overlooking and the relationship between buildings.
3.5.4 Policy 11 requires a good standard of design and will be expected to enhance
and reinforce the established character of the locality and demonstrate an
understanding of the wider context towards making a positive contribution to
the local area. This includes enhance and reinforcing the established
character of a locality. Key aspects of character which must be taken into
account are the following:
i)
ii)
iii)

iv)
v)
vi)

Existing topography, buildings and landscape features and their
integration into the development;
Layout and building orientation to make best use of existing
connections, landmarks and views;
Building shapes, plot and block sizes, styles colours and materials that
contribute to the character of streets and use these to complement
character;
Height and building line of the established area;
Relationship of the buildings to the street; and
Frontage treatment such as boundary walls.

With reference to materials and colour; all new development must make
considered use of materials and colour to reflect local distinctiveness and
character. Materials and colour should:
i)
ii)
iii)

Accentuate a building or assist with its integration into the wider built
landscape;
Assist with way finding, the identification of entrances and so on; and /
or;
Integrate a building into the immediate street scene.

3.5.5 Appearance
The proposed dwellings are informally arranged around a cul-de-sac. They
are of traditional two storey appearance, featuring natural slated gable roof
profiles, stone elevations (with occasional render), proportionate fenestration
and chimney stacks. All are features which are typical of local distinctiveness.
The occasional render is limited to elevations that do not present to Blackburn
Road. Implementation of these agreed materials will be secured by condition.
Accordingly, an appropriately integrated group of buildings is achieved.

Page 125

3.5.6 The elevated land level of the site, in contrast to the land level that
accommodates the adjacent Wayoh Barn, is recognised in the assessment.
This will result in the proposed ridge heights being circa 1.5m higher. Such
topographical inconsistencies are, however, not untypical of the rural
environment and the appearance of the development should be considered in
this context.
3.5.7 Appropriate boundary treatment delineating common boundaries between
plots is specified. These include close boarded timber fences between
properties, natural stone around the side and rear garden of Plot 1 and a
privet hedgerow along the Blackburn Road frontage. The hedgerow will
return to the rear of plots 2, 3 and 4 which will serve as a transitional
boundary form in response to open countryside beyond.
Additional
landscaping features within the site, as specified in the ‘Landscape’ section of
this report, below.
3.5.8 Surface treatment to the internal service road will be black hot rolled asphalt
and driveways will be block paved. Private driveways will be block paved.
3.5.9 These details will be secured by condition.

Extract from submitted “proposed street scene”

Page 126

Extract from proposed floor plans and elevations for Plots 1,2, and 4.
3.5.10 Landscaping
Policy 9 supports removal of one or more trees as part of a development,
subject to a requirement that an equivalent number or more new trees are
planted either on or near the site, unless a clear justification is provided for not
doing so. Mature trees within the site, along Blackburn Road have previously
been removed
3.5.11 Submission of a landscaping scheme is required by condition attached to the
outline permission. Full details are, however, agreed under this application.
The Council’s Arboricultural consultant is supportive of the position, species
and density of the new planting throughout. The proposed replacement
planting along Blackburn Road mitigates against the loss of some established
trees and serves to soften and integrate the development into an environment
distinguished by mature landscaping punctuating built form, thereby limiting its
visual prominence on approach from the north along Blackburn Road. A net
gain in biodiversity across the site will also be secured.
3.5.12 Layout
The dwellings are laid out informally arranged around a cul-de-sac, in
response to the constraining access position and adjacent land uses. A small
pocket of appropriately positioned communal open space is included within
the layout.

Page 127

Extract from submitted “proposed site plan”
3.5.13 The proposed detached dwellings offer outdoor amenity space to the front,
rear and sides. On balance, having regard to local character, the dwellings
are considered to be proportionate to the plot sizes, offering adequate space
sufficient to service family needs.
3.5.14 Separation between proposed dwellings and the existing adjacent dwelling
(Wayoh Barn) is in accordance with the Council’s adopted standards.
Separation between proposed dwellings is broadly in accordance with those
standards. Adequate levels of amenity are, therefore, secured, with reference
to relationship between buildings.
3.5.15 Highway assessment focusses on off-street parking provision and internal
road layout, on account of the access having previously been approved at
outline stage. Each property accommodates the necessary in-curtilage
parking provision, as required by the Council’s adopted parking standards.
3.5.16 It is considered necessary to remove permitted development rights relating to
development within the curtilage of a dwellinghouse and to means of
enclosures, in order to afford LPA control over future development, having
regard to the restricted plot sizes and safeguarding visual amenity.
3.5.17 Scale
As two storey family sized detached dwellings, they are consistent with the
Council’s aspiration for sites to accommodate detached or semi-detached
housing, where possible.

Page 128

3.5.18 Scale of the dwellings, including their two storey height, is broadly consistent
with those within the immediate locality (the adjacent three storey elevation of
Wayoh Barn is something of an anomaly in this context), and the overall scale
of the development is considered proportionate to the application site.
3.5.19 Summary
This report assesses the reserved matters planning application for land at
Wayoh Barn, Blackburn Road, Edgworth. In considering the proposal, a wide
range of material considerations have been taken into account to inform a
balanced recommendation that is considered to demonstrate compliance with
the Development Plan and The Framework, in support of the Council’s
strategic growth objectives, subject to conditions to make the development
acceptable in planning terms. To re-iterate, the principle of the residential
redevelopment of the site and access arrangements have previously been
accepted under the outline planning permission.
4

RECOMMENDATION

4.1

Delegated authority is given to the Director of Growth and Development to
approve planning permission, subject to following conditions:






Unless explicitly required by condition within this consent, the
development hereby permitted shall be carried out in complete
accordance with the proposal originally received 22nd May 2020 and
amended drawings received 4th November 2020, titled: Plot 1 & 2 Layouts
and Elevations; Plot 3 Layouts and Elevations; Plot 4 Layouts and
Elevations; Plot 5 Layouts and Elevations; Proposed Site Plan; and
Boundary Treatment Plan.
REASON: For the avoidance of doubt and to clarify which plans are
relevant to the consent.
The development hereby approved shall be implemented in complete
accordance with the external walling and roofing material samples
provided and as specified on the submitted drawing received 4th
November 2020, titled ‘Street Scene’.
REASON: To ensure that the external appearance of the development is
satisfactory; in accordance with Policy 8 of the Blackburn with Darwen
Borough Local Plan Part 2 and the adopted Blackburn with Darwen
Design Guide Supplementary Planning Document.
The development hereby approved shall be implemented in complete
accordance with the submitted landscaping plan, received 4the November
2020, titled ‘Proposed Landscaping’. Trees and shrubs shall be planted
on the site in accordance with the approved details during the first
available planting season following completion of the works, and
thereafter retained. Trees and shrubs dying or becoming diseased,
removed, or being seriously damaged within five years of planting shall be
replaced by trees and shrubs of similar size and species to those
originally required to be planted during the first available planting season
after the loss of the trees and / or shrubs.

Page 129










REASON: To ensure that there is a well laid scheme of healthy trees and
shrubs in the interests of amenity in accordance with Policies 9 & 40 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
The development hereby approved shall be implemented in complete
accordance with the submitted Environmental Management Plan dated
2/11/20.
REASON: In order to avoid the possibility of the public highway being
affected by the deposit of mud/or loose materials which could create a
potential hazard to road users, to protect the amenity of the occupiers of
the adjacent properties and to protect the visual amenities of the locality;
in accordance with Policy 10 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local
Plan Part 2.
Visibility splays at the site access/egress and driveway access/egress
points shall not at any time be obstructed by any building, wall, fence,
hedge, tree, shrub or other device exceeding a height greater than 1
metre above the crown level of the adjacent highway.
REASON: To ensure the safe, efficient and convenient movement of all
highway users, for the free flow of traffic, in accordance with Policy 10 of
the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
Demolition or construction shall only take place between the hours of
08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday, 08:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays and not
at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays.
REASON: To protect the amenity of residents in accordance with Policy 8
of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.
Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3 and Schedule 2 of the Town
and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) (England) Order
2015 (as amended), no development of the type specified in Classes A, B,
C, D and E of Part 1 and Class A of Part 2 of that Schedule shall be
carried out unless planning permission has been granted first.
REASON: Due to the restricted nature of the site, whilst the dwellings as
approved are acceptable, any further extensions or alterations normally
permitted under the above provisions may in this case conflict with the
interests of adjacent properties or the amenity of the area generally, in
accordance with Policies 8 and 9 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Local Plan Part 2.

5

PLANNING HISTORY

5.1

10/18/0183: Outline planning permission, granted by Planning & Highways
Committee on 20th August 2018 for the erection of up to 5no. dwellings and
site access with all other matters reserved.

6

CONSULTATIONS

6.1

Drainage
No objection; awaiting submission of a drainage scheme via the condition
discharge process associated with the Outline permission.

Page 130

6.2

Public Protection
No objection; awaiting submission of contaminated land reports and an
electrical vehicle charging point scheme via the condition discharge process
associated with the Outline permission

6.3

Environmental Services
No objection

6.4

Highways Authority
No objection, subject to queries pertaining to the following matters:
- Site layout, including off-street parking and adequate carriageway /
footway provision.
These matters have been resolved though
submission of amended detail relating to off-street parking and
confirmation that the development will be remain in the charge of a
private management company, rather than Local Authority adoption.
Note: Other highway matters will be secured under the condition discharge
procedure for such conditions attached to the Outline planning permission.

6.5

GMEU Ecology
No response offered.

6.6

Lancashire Fire Service
Standard advice with reference to compliance with Building Regulations
Approved Document B, Part B5 ‘Access and facilities for the Fire Service’.

6.7

Arboricultural Officer
Submission of a landscaping scheme required to provide for native trees
incorporated within the proposed hedgerow along Blackburn Road, as well as
hedging on the north and east boundaries that also incorporates native tree
planting.
A planting scheme of native hedging with the occasional tree will also have
the effect of softening the built edge by way of breaking up the roof lines of
the proposed properties without causing too much in the way of shade/conflict
etc. This planting would also allow the development to ‘sit’ better when viewed
from the wider landscape including for traffic users of Blackburn Road.

6.8

Public consultation
Five neighbouring properties were formally consulted by letter, and a site
notice was posted. Two letters of objection have been received, together with
an objection from North Turton Parish Council. These comments are referred
to in detail in Section 7 of the report.

Page 131

7.0

Summary of representations

Objection – Matthew Longbottom & Michelle Barrett, Wayoh Fold Farmhouse,
Blackburn Road Rec 30.07.2020
We are emailing with reference to the above Planning Application at Wayoh Barn.
We would like to submit our objection to this proposed development for a number of
reasons:
1.
Road Safety - the plans show the proposal to build 5 additional dwellings all of
which have double garages and with that, will likely have 2 or more cars per
household. This means that there will be a further 10+ cars turning on to a narrow
road which would double the traffic within the immediate area. We moved in to our
property at the end of September last year and there have already been around 3
car accidents only 50 yards away from the proposed development site. We are
therefore very concerned that there could be further accidents during the
development stage (with heavy plant and equipment working near the site) and long
term, if the development is approved the additional traffic will only increase the
chance of further accidents.
2.
Power Supply - There have been a number of power cuts in the area since we
have moved in. We are concerned that the development of 5 houses (5 bedroomed)
will mean that the electrical infrastructure will not cope with the additional demand
and will likely increase the number of power cuts to the area. This is of particular
concern given that there are a number people who not rely on power to work from
home (we are NHS staff and often work from home) this could therefore have
potentially severe consequences to patients.
3.
We are concerned that these houses will not sell. These have been designed
as family homes and the size of the garden is disproportionate to the size of the
dwelling. There are already a number of similarly sized properties within the
Edgworth area that have been on the market for a while with larger gardens that
have not sold. We are concerned that if these properties are unoccupied for a period
of time that this could attract criminal activity to the area.
4.
The owner of Wayoh Barn has been "developing" the Barn for a number of
years and this development project is still on-going with no sign of completion. We
are therefore concerned that this development will also not be completed or take
several years to complete. This would have a detrimental impact to the natural
beauty of the area and this was the main reason we chose to buy in this area.
We would also like to express our concern that we did not receive a letter about this
development. When I checked the details of the application at the Online Portal the
majority of the addresses of those properties listed as "Neighbours" were incorrect.
Objection – Chris and Rachel Duggleby, Wayoh Farmhouse, Blackburn Road Rec
24.07.2020
Re. Reserved Matters Application reference 10/20/0464 at Wayoh Barn, Blackburn
Road, Edgworth, Bolton BL7 0PZ

Page 132

We wish to object to the proposed development of five houses at this site. We do so
on a number of grounds.
1.
The proposed development is not in keeping with the local surroundings.
Wayoh Fold (where Wayoh Barn is situated) is a small hamlet of converted farm
buildings, surrounded by open countryside. The present buildings date from the 18th
century, and external appearances are congruous with each other. A development of
modern housing would not blend with the current hamlet buildings.
Furthermore, in the nearby area there are several small hamlets of similar properties,
but outside of the village centre there are no modern housing developments relating
to these traditional farmstead locations. This is a rural setting, and the open
moorland countryside would be spoiled by a development of large houses.
2.
Size and number of proposed properties
Edgworth village and surrounding areas (Crowthorn, Chapeltown) are already well
supplied with large family homes. Several of these have been developed in the last
few years and remain unsold. There does not appear to be an obvious need for a
development of further similar properties in the area.
In addition, the size and number of properties proposed will dominate the existing
traditional buildings in Wayoh Fold.
3.
Impact on local amenities
Edgworth is served by one primary school. This is usually oversubscribed.
Secondary schools in the locality are also often similarly oversubscribed. Building
five more large family homes would place increased pressure on already stretched
local school provision.
4.
Traffic at the location
Wayoh Fold hamlet is situated at the top of a narrow, steep section of road.
Accidents here are common and increasing the amount of traffic turning onto and off
the road in this area will increase the likelihood of collision, which can lead to road
closure.
In summary, we do not feel that the proposed development is suitable for this
location, and therefore we oppose its construction

Objection – Glenys Syddall, Clerk to North Turton Parish Council Rec 15.07.2020
North Turton Parish Council previously strongly objected to the original planning
application (10/18/0183) for the erection of 5 dwellings at Wayoh Barn, Blackburn
Road.
Therefore, despite the fact that the planning application was approved, the Parish
Council cannot support this application.

Page 133

8.0 CONTACT OFFICER:
Management.

Nick Blackledge Senior Planner, Development

9.0 DATE PREPARED: 2nd November 2020.
Appendix 1.
Application for approval of all reserved matters must be made not later than the expiration of three
years beginning with the date of this permission. The development hereby permitted shall be begun
not later than the expiration of two years from the date of the approval of the last of the reserved
matters to be approved.
REASON: Required to be imposed pursuant to Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase
Act 2004.

Details of the following matters (subsequently referred to as the reserved matters) shall be submitted
to and be approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the commencement of any
works:i) Appearance
ii) Layout
iii) Scale
iv) Landscaping
REASON: Because the application is in outline only and no details have yet been furnished of the
matters referred to in the Condition, these are reserved for subsequent approval by the Local
Planning Authority.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority detailing provision of an electrical vehicle charging
points for each dwelling. The approved scheme shall be implemented prior to first occupation of the
development.
REASON: In the interests of air quality management and protection of health, in accordance with
Policy 9 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, the developer must submit to the Local
Planning Authority for written approval:
(i) Two copies of a comprehensive desk study report, including a preliminary conceptual site model
(CSM) in text, plan and cross-section form. Where necessary, detailed proposals for subsequent site
investigation should also be included, clearly based on the CSM.
(ii) Two copies of the findings of the approved site investigation work (where necessary), including an
appropriate assessment of risks to both human health and the wider environment, from contaminants
in, on or under the land (including ground gas). If unacceptable risks are identified, a remedial options
appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be presented, along with an updated CSM. No
deviation shall be made from this scheme without the written agreement from the Local Planning
Authority.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to identify contamination at the site in
accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

Prior to occupation of the development hereby approved, two copies of a comprehensive Validation
Report shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Validation
Report shall demonstrate effective remediation in accordance with the agreed remediation scheme
and updated CSM. All the installed remediation must be retained for the duration of the approved use,

Page 134

and where necessary, the Local Planning Authority should be periodically informed in writing of any
ongoing monitoring and decisions based thereon.
REASON: To ensure that all reasonable steps have been taken to identify contamination at the site,
that the risks it presents have been appropriately assessed, and that the site can be made 'suitable
for use', as such, does not pose a risk to future users of the site or the wider environment in
accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

Should contamination be encountered unexpectedly during redevelopment, all works should cease,
and the LPA should be immediately informed in writing. If unacceptable risks are identified, a remedial
options appraisal and detailed remediation scheme should be presented, and agreed in writing by the
LPA. No deviation shall be made from this scheme without the written express agreement of the LPA.
REASON: To protect the health of future occupiers of the site in accordance with Policy ENV3 of the
Blackburn with Darwen Borough Local Plan.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a foul and surface water drainage
scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved
scheme shall ensure that foul and surface water is drained on separate systems. The surface water
drainage scheme shall be based on the hierarchy of drainage options in the National Planning
Practice Guidance with evidence of an assessment of the site conditions (inclusive of how the
scheme shall be managed after completion). The surface water drainage scheme must be in
accordance with the non statutory Technical Standards for Sustainable Drainage Systems (March
2015) or any subsequent replacement national standards and, unless otherwise agreed in writing by
the Local Planning Authority, no surface water shall discharge to the public sewerage system either
directly or indirectly.
REASON: To ensure a safe form of development that poses no unacceptable risk of flooding,
pollution to water resources or human health in accordance with Policy 8 of the adopted Blackburn
with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.

Prior to commencement of any works at the site, an Arboricultural Method Statement and tree
protection plan shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
method statement shall clearly state how the trees to be retained on site will be protected during
construction works. The agreed method statement shall be implemented in full prior to the
undertaking of any on site works and retained for duration of the demolition and construction works.

REASON: Trees represent a public benefit by way of visual amenity and should therefore be
protected at all times in accordance with Policy 9 of the adopted Local Plan Part 2.
Prior to commencement of development hereby approved a landscaping scheme shall be submitted
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Trees and shrubs shall be planted on the
site in accordance with the approved landscaping scheme during the first available planting season
following completion of the works, and thereafter retained. Trees and shrubs dying or becoming
diseased, removed, or being seriously damaged within five years of planting shall be replaced by
trees and shrubs of similar size and species to those originally required to be planted during the first
available planting season after the loss of the trees and/or shrubs.
REASON: To ensure that there is a well laid scheme of healthy trees and shrubs in the interests of
amenity and biodiversity in accordance with Policies 9 and 40 of the Blackburn with Darwen Borough
Local Plan Part 2.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a scheme for the provision of bat and
bird boxes / bricks shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
approved scheme shall be implemented prior to occupation of the development and retained
thereafter.

Page 135

REASON: To ensure no unacceptable impact on protected species, in accordance with Policy 9 of the
adopted Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council Local Plan Part 2.

Prior to commencement of the development hereby approved, a written scheme of archaeological
investigation shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The
scheme shall include a programme of site recording and analysis. The scheme shall be implemented
in accordance with the approved details.
REASON: To ensure and safeguard the recording and inspection of matters of archaeological /
historical importance associated with the site in accordance with Policy 39 of the Blackburn with
Darwen Borough Local Plan Part 2.

This consent relates to the submitted details marked received on 22nd February 2018 including the
site plan drawing and additional drawing received 14th July 2018 numbered WB sa01; and any
subsequent amendments approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority within 12 months of the
date of this decision.
REASON: To clarify the terms of this consent

Page 136

Agenda Item 5
DEPARTMENT OF GROWTH & DEVELOPMENT
ORIGINATING SECTION: Planning (Development Management)
REPORT TO:

Planning & Highways Committee – 19th November
2020

TITLE:

Petition regarding Full Planning Application for the
proposed erection of four number dwelling houses,
made up of two semi-detached properties on vacant
land off Accrington Road, Blackburn

AT: Land at Accrington Road
Blackburn
BB1 2AN
Application Reference: 10/20/0903
Applicant: Towers Group Ltd.
Ward: Little Harwood
Councillors:
Councillor Pat McFall
Councillor Abdul Patel
Councillor Mustafa Ali Desai

1.0

PURPOSE OF REPORT

1.1

To inform Members of the receipt of the petition received relating to the above
planning application.

2.0

BACKGROUND AND DETAILS

2.1

A planning application for the above development was received on 28th
September 2020 and was registered on the 05th October 2020.

2.2

One petition containing 33 names and addresses objecting to the proposed
development was received on 05th November 2020. The reasons against the
proposal are given as follows;




Highway safety concerns as a result of the increase the volumes of traffic and
increased parking requirements;
Loss of on-street parking for local residents;
The potential for disruptions during the construction phase;
1

Page 137




Safety concerns may arise for children given losses of open space;
The thought of the proposal is causing worry for residents.

2.3

At the time of the Petition Report being prepared, no decision on the
application had been reached. Officers have requested additional information
from the Applicant relating to design modifications and highways matters, and
the application is thus still under consideration.

3.0

RECOMMENDATION

3.1

It is recommended that the Committee note the petition.

4.0

BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1

Planning application 10/20/0903 contains details of the application and can be
viewed at:
https://planning.blackburn.gov.uk/Northgate/PlanningExplorer/Generic/StdDet
ails.aspx?PT=Planning%20Applications%20OnLine&TYPE=PL/PlanningPK.xml&PARAM0=91808&XSLT=/Northgate/Plannin
gExplorer/SiteFiles/Skins/Blackburn/xslt/PL/PLDetails.xslt&FT=Planning%20A
pplication%20Details&PUBLIC=Y&XMLSIDE=&DAURI=PLANNING

5.0

CONTACT OFFICER – Christian Barton – Planner

6.0

DATE PREPARED – 05 November 2020

2

Page 138

Agenda Item 6

DEPARTMENT OF RESOURCES
ORIGINATING DIVISION: Highways and Transportation/PROW

REPORT TO:

Blackburn with Darwen Borough Council
Planning and Highways Committee

DATE:

19/11/2020

TITLE:

Application for a Definitive Map Modification Order
(DMMO) at Swan Farm Close Lower Darwen

WARDS:

Blackburn South and Lower Darwen Ward

COUNCILLORS:

Cllr Jacquie Slater, Cllr Denise Gee and Cllr John
Slater.

1. PURPOSE OF REPORT
To seek a decision from Committee for an application to add a Public Footpath to the
Definitive Map and Statement via a Definitive Map Modification Order (DMMO) at
Swan Farm Close Lower Darwen. Marked as a dashed line on the accompanying
plan.
2. BACKGROUND
The application route is currently not recorded on the Definitive Map (the legal record
of Public Rights of Way) as a Public Footpath.
In 2015 the Council received an application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to
add the the route of the footpath to the Definitive map and statement The applicant
believes that the route is incorrectly recorded on the Definitive Map and that it is
historically a footpath. The applicant has submitted a quantity of historical
documentary evidence along with a written submission. The application was further
supported by a quantity of user evidence.
Please refer to accompanying report and appendices for details.
The Council has a duty to process the application and determine whether or not
sufficient evidence exists to ‘make’ a DMMO, or if the application should be refused.
3. DETAIL
Please refer to accompanying report and bundle for details.

Page -1139

4. THE LAW
Blackburn with Darwen Council is the Surveying Authority for the purposes of Section
53 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The Surveying Authority has a duty
pursuant to Section 53 of the 1981 Act to maintain the Definitive Map and Statement
for its area, and to modify it, by way of making Definitive Map Modification Orders
upon the discovery of evidence, which show, when considered with all other available
evidence, that they require amendment or updating. Members of the public have a
right to apply for a Definitive Map Modification Order, to seek amendment to the legal
record using the procedures set out within Schedule 14 of the Wildlife and Countryside
Act 1981.
5. RECOMMENDATION
It is the investigating Officer’s view that there is a reasonable allegation in favour of
the establishment of Public Footpath rights over the application route, which is
currently an unobstucted route and therefore a Definitive Map Modification Order
should be promoted.
It is recommended that the Council makes a Definitive Map Modification Order
(DMMO) at Swan Farm Close, Lower Darwen and supports the application.

6.

CONTACT OFFICER

Paul Withington

7.

DATE PREPARED

21/10/2020

8.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

a. Assessment of the Application
b. Bundle of Evidence (Paper Copy- A File)

Page -2140

Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981
Application for Definitive Map Modification Order
Swan farm close Lower Darwen Blackburn
1.0
1.1

Introduction
The purpose of this report is to assist the Council in the determination of an application for a
Definitive Map Modification Order to alter the registered status of a path at Swan Farm Close
in Lower Darwen Blackburn. The route under investigation (the application route) is shown by
a broken black line on the plan in Tab 1 attached to this report.

2.0
2.1

Background
Swan Farm Close (the application route) is currently not recorded on the Definitive Map (the
legal record of Public Rights of Way) as a Public Footpath. In 2015 the Council received and an
application for a Definitive Map Modification Order to amend the status of the route from Nondefinitive to definitive footpath. The applicants believe that the route should be recorded on
the Definitive Map and that it is historically a footpath. The applicant submitted historical
photographic evidence along with written user evidence. A copy of the application is included
in the document bundle at Tab 2.

3.0
3.1

The Surveying Authority’s Responsibilities
When considering the application the Surveying Authority acts in a quasi-judicial capacity. It is
fundamental that the consideration and determination of the issue is based upon the evidence
before the Committee and the application of the law. The merits of a matter have no place in
this process and so the fact that a decision might benefit or prejudice owners, occupiers or
members of the general public, or the Authority, has no relevance to the issues which Members
have to deal with and address.

3.2

The Committee’s decision whether to “make” an Order is the first stage of the process. If
Members decide that an Order should be “made”, and there are no objections to the Order,
the Council can “confirm” the Order. However, if objections are received, and not subsequently
withdrawn, the Order must be referred to the Secretary of State for a decision whether, or not,
it should be “confirmed”. Under such circumstances the matter is usually considered by an
Inspector, appointed by the Secretary of State at a local public inquiry.

4.0
4.1

Legal Context
Blackburn with Darwen Council is the Surveying Authority for the purposes of Section 53 of the
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981. The Surveying Authority has a duty pursuant to Section 53
of the 1981 Act to maintain the Definitive Map and Statement for its area, and to modify it, by
way of making Definitive Map Modification Orders upon the discovery of evidence, which show,
when considered with all other available evidence, that they require amendment or updating.
Members of the public have a right to apply for a Definitive Map Modification Order, to seek
amendment to the legal record using the procedures set out within Schedule 14 of the Wildlife
and Countryside Act 1981.

4.2

Public Rights of Way - General
Footpaths, bridleways, restricted byways and byways open to all traffic, often referred to as
public rights of way, are public highways. A highway is a way over which the public have a right

Page 141

to pass and re-pass. Not all highways are maintainable at public expense, nor is there any need
for a way to have been “adopted” before it is either a highway or a highway `maintainable at
public expense.
4.3

Whilst topographical features may be attributed to, or provide evidence of, the existence of a
public highway, the public right itself is not a physical entity, it is the right to pass and re-pass
over (usually) private land.

4.4

Once a highway has come into being, no amount of non-user can result in the right ceasing to
exist. The legal principal of “Once Highway, Always a Highway”1 applies. Such rights, except in
very limited circumstances, can only be changed by way of certain legal proceedings either by
way of local authority administrative order or a Court Order.

4.5

4.6

Types of Highway
As mentioned above, a highway is a way over which the public have a right to pass and re-pass.
The nature and extent of the right (i.e. who may use it) is dependent upon the specific type of
highway status attributed to a route.
Types of Highway: Common Law
Under the common law there were, and indeed still are, only three types of highway. These
are:
 Footpaths,
 Bridleways; and,
 Carriageways

4.7

The right to pass and re-pass on a public footpath is restricted to pedestrians with usual
accompaniments (e.g. a pushchair).

4.8

The right to pass and re-pass on a public bridleway is restricted to pedestrians, horse riders
(including leading horses) and possibly the right to drive cattle.

4.9

The right to pass and re-pass on a public carriageway is open to all traffic, namely pedestrians,
horse riders (including leading horses), non-mechanically propelled and mechanically propelled
vehicles.

4.10

4.11

1

Types of Highway: Statute
Over time the legislature has brought into effect various statutes which restrict or extend the
extent of use on certain types of highway. For instance under the provisions of the Countryside
Act 1968 cyclists are granted a right to use bridleways. Other legislation provides for Public
Carriageways to be subdivide into various categories which include, motorways, cycle tracks,
restricted byways and byways open to all traffic.
When determining the status of a specific route one must first consider the common law
situation and then apply any necessary restrictions to status imposed by statute in respect of
restricted byways and byways open to all traffic. Motorways and cycle tracks can only be
created by statutory order and are therefore not under consideration in this case. Use by cycles
may however result in the establishment of either bridleway or restricted byway status
depending on the specifics of the case.

Harvey v Truro Rural District Council (1903) 2 Ch 638 & Dawes v Hawkins (1860) 8 CB (NS) 848, 141 ER 1399

Page 142

4.12

4.13

4.14

4.15

4.16

How Highways Come into Being – Basic Principals
Dedication and Acceptance
Subject to a small number of exceptions (such as express creation by statutory process) before
any highway can come into being there must be an act of dedication by the landowner,
followed by the acceptance of the strip of land as a highway by the public.
The act of dedication may be express, or implied depending upon the actions or inactions of
the land owner. Acceptance is usually demonstrated by public user, however acceptance of a
way as a highway by the Highway Authority may also suffice. The principles of how rights can
come into being are further discussed in more detail below:
Burden and Standard of Proof
The duty to make a Definitive Map Modification Order is triggered upon the discovery of
evidence, by the Authority, which demonstrates in this case that, having taken into account all
of the available relevant evidence, on balance of probability the alleged rights subsist.
This test comprises a complex balancing act, involving careful assessment of the relative values
of the individual pieces of evidence and the evidence taken together as a whole.
Common Law
The establishment of highway rights under the common law is not bound by the so called “20
year rule” (discussed below), with the courts having ruled2 that rights can be established in a
very short period of time. It may therefore be helpful to look at this area in more detail.

4.17

The common law position was described by Farwell J, and Slessor and Scott LJ in Jones v Bates
1938, both quoted with approval by Laws J in Jaques v SSE 1994, who described the former’s
summary as a full and convenient description of the common law. Other leading cases that
speak to dedication at common law are Fairey v Southampton CC 1956, Mann v Brodie 1885
and Poole v Huskinson 1843. Jaques is a particularly helpful exposition on the differences
between dedication at common law and under statute. Dyson J’s judgment in Nicholson v
Secretary of State for the Environment 1996 comments further on aspects of these differences.

4.18

Halsbury3 states – “Both dedication by the owner and user by the public must occur to create a
highway otherwise than by statute. User by the public is a sufficient acceptance. And - An
intention to dedicate land as a highway may only be inferred against a person who was at the
material time in a position to make an effective dedication, that is, as a rule, a person who is
absolute owner in fee simple; and At common law, the question of dedication is one of fact to
be determined from the evidence. User by the public is no more than evidence, and is not
conclusive evidence ... any presumption raised by that user may be rebutted. Where there is
satisfactory evidence of user by the public, dedication may be inferred even though there is no
evidence to show who was the owner at the time or that he had the capacity to dedicate. The
onus of proving that there was no one who could have dedicated the way lies on the person who
denies the alleged dedication”.

4.19

The inference of dedication may arise in three ways:
i)

First, the inference may arise from the fact that the owner has done exactly what one
would expect from any owner who intended to dedicate a new highway (e.g. express

2

North London Railway Co v Vestry of St Mary, Islington (1872) 27 L.T. 672 – Dedication was found to have occurred within an 18 month
period
3 Halsbury’s Laws of England (Volume 55 ‘Highways’)

Page 143

dedication). For example in North London Railway Co v Vestry of St Mary, Islington4 the
issue concerned a new bridge which the railway company had constructed alongside its
newly opened Canonbury Station in Islington. The bridge was 50 feet wide and
connected two existing streets on either side of the railway lines. Carriages used the
bridge freely from the time it was completed, and a public cab rank had been established
on part of the bridge. The Justices’ conclusion that the way had been dedicated as a
carriageway occasioned no surprise on the appeal to the Divisional Court, although the
Justices had to decide the point when the bridge had been in use for only 18 months. In
those circumstances, the fact that the company had put up barriers to prevent further
use by carriages some time after receiving notice of the proceedings before the Justices
merely evoked the comment from Blackburn J. that “As to the erection of the barriers
by the appellants, that was done too late to do away with the dedication”.

4.20

4.21

4.22

ii)

Second, the inference has been drawn mainly from evidence that the way was already
recognised as being a highway by the start of the period covered by living memory,
coupled with the absence of anything to show that the public recognition was misplaced.
In this class of case the common law approach simply recognises that the facts all point
one way, and that it is immaterial that the claimant cannot identify the early owners or
show the actual date when dedication was likely to have occurred5.

iii)

Third, a dedication may be inferred from use and enjoyment by the public as of right,
known by the owner and acquiesced in by him. The owner’s recognition of the fact that
the public is using the way as a highway may itself be a matter for inference, rather than
clearly proven fact6.

Statute
It is possible for highways to be created as a result of statutory processes such as enclosure
awards, or in more modern times various types of statutory creation order. The route under
consideration falls within this category but dedication by other means should not necessarily
be discounted.
The Highways Act 1980, Section 31 has also, to a certain extent, codified the common law
(discussed above) by identifying a specific set of circumstance whereby a presumption of
dedication may arise. One of these circumstance is the requirement that the way in question
must be used for a full period of twenty years, with such use being further qualified as having
to be “as of right” and “without interruption”.
Highways Act 1980, Section 31
Section 31 of the Highways Act 1980 states:
“(1) Where a way over land, other than a way of such character that use of it by the public
could not give rise at common law to any presumption of dedication, has been actually
enjoyed by the public as of right and without interruption for a full period of twenty years,
the way is deemed to have been dedicated as a highway unless there is sufficient evidence
that there was no intention during that period to dedicate it.”

4

(1872) 27 L.T. 672
See e.g. Williams Ellis v Cobb [1935] 1 KB 310 (CA)
6
See e.g. Parker J in Webb v Baldwin and others (1911) 75 JP 564 at p565
5

Page 144

“The period of twenty years referred to in subsection (1) above is to be calculated
retrospectively from the date when the right of the public to use the way is brought into
question whether by notice, such as is mentioned in subsection (3) below or otherwise.”
“Where the owner of the land, which any such way as aforesaid passes has erected in
such manner as to be visible by persons using the way a notice inconsistent with the
dedication of the way as a highway; and has maintained the notice after the first January
1934, or any later date on which it was erected, the notice, in the absence of proof of a
contrary intention, is sufficient evidence to negative the intention to dedicate the way as
a highway”
4.23

Section 31(1) has two ‘limbs’ the first provides that proof of twenty years continuous user “as
of right” endorses a claim that a highway exists; the second (sometimes referred to as ‘the
proviso’) provides that proof of a lack of intention to dedicate the way as a highway defeats the
claim.

4.24

Section 31 is further supplemented by Section 32 of the Highways Act 1980, which states:
“A court or other tribunal, before determining whether a way has or has not been
dedicated as a highway, or the date on which such dedication, if any, took place, shall
take into consideration any map, plan or history of the locality or other relevant
document, which is tendered in evidence, and shall give weight thereto as the court or
tribunal considers justified by the circumstances, including the antiquity of the tendered
document, the status of the person by whom and the purpose for which it was made or
complied, and the custody in which it has been kept and from which it is produced.”

5.0

5.1

5.2

Summary of Evidence

Public Maps (Tab 2-2)
The application route is shown on the current aerial map hosted by Lancashire County Council
and evidence in tab 2-2. The aerial photography presented as evidence has no date stamp
however this does indicates the route from the application is in existence.
Photographic evidence (Tab 2-2)
Three photographs have been provided in tab 2-2 and dated by the applicant as July 2015
showing the route either side of the kissing gate marked on Plan 1 between E and D.
Two further photographs have been provided showing the same area with a date stamped
into the image. The dates are 31/08/2015 and 02/12/2015 respectively.
User Evidence (Tab 2-3)

5.3
The applicant has submitted supplementary evidence in the form of a statement with attached
documents. These can be viewed in Tab 2-3 labelled as documents 1 to 5.
Tab 2-3 Doc. 3 includes three photos
 Two showing where a young lady is on the route estimated conservatively to
be less than 10 years old, according to the statement this lady is now in in
excess of 30 indicating the route has been established for over 20 years.
 The third photo shows cars parked in front of the houses, next to the start of
the route. The route appears to start no more than a cars length from the
footway in front of 21. Part of the route that is visible in this photo is adjacent

Page 145

to the garage and trails off towards the position of the kissing gate. The photo
is not date stamped however; the newest car according to registration date is
D30 RHG and was manufactured in 1986. Although we can say this photo is no
older than 1986 we cannot confirm when after this date the photo was taken.
The applicant’s supplementary evidence includes notes from a site visit as part of a planning
application 10/94/1332 (Tab 2-3 Doc. 004) where the officer notes the existence of the
footpath being claimed on the 06/10/1994.
The applications supplementary evidence includes consultation notes as part of a planning
application 10/11/0872 (Tab 2-3 Doc. 005). The comments recorded by the PROW (Public
Rights Of Way team) indicate the existence of the route and the departments opinion that in
2011 there was likely in excess of 20 years use to link Swan Farm Close to FP112.
In addition to the afore mentioned evidence 17 user evidence forms have been submitted.
These all claim use of the application route and attest to its reputation as a footpath. Twelve of
these have been submitted from the immediate street and a further five from the surrounding
area.

6.0
6.1

Consideration of Evidence
Public Maps (Tab 2-2)
The inclusion of the route on Lancashire County Council aerial photography support that the
route in the application is currently in existence and gives a point to count back from for the
number of years of use.

6.2

Photographic evidence (Tab 2-2)
The photographs provided some near recent evidence that the area has changed but the route
has remained unobstructed.

6.3

User Evidence (Tab 2-3)
The user evidence provides a picture of long use of the application route by the public and also
of its reputation as a footpath. The user evidence also includes some documentary evidence
from planning applications showing that Council officers have previously acknowledged the
existence of the footpath. The combination of these may be sufficient in to support the
establishment of public footpath rights during the Twentieth Century based upon either the
common law or section 31 of the Highways Act 1980.

7.0
7.1

Conclusions
In reaching a decision over whether or not to make the requested Order it must be
remembered that, in evidential terms, it is necessary for the evidence to show on balance of
probability that the alleged rights subsist. If it is concluded that this test has been met the duty
to make an Order is triggered. The case does not have to be proved beyond reasonable doubt.

7.2

When the evidence is taken as a whole there is a case in favour of the historical existence of
public footpath rights over the application route. It may therefore be considered to be wholly
appropriate to make an Order to modify the Definitive Map by adding the footpath as shown
in Tab 1.

Page 146

8.0
8.1

Consultations (Tab 3)
Consultations have been undertaken in line with the Parliamentary Rights of Way Review
Committee’s Code of Practice on consultation, but using a response time of six weeks rather
than the suggested 3 months (which is considered excessive). No responses were received.

9.0
9.1

Decision Required
If the Authority is satisfied, having considered all of the available and relevant evidence, that
either the common law or legislative tests have been met, they should resolve that:
a) a Definitive Map Modification Order be made to add the route shown on Plan 1
as Footpath;
b) if no objections are received in response to the making of the Order, the Order
be confirmed.
c) If objections are received, and not subsequently withdrawn, the Order be passed
to the Secretary of State for determination.

9.2

If however, the Authority is not satisfied, having considered all of the available and relevant
evidence, that the relevant tests have been met, they should resolve that:
a) the application be refused; and,
b) the applicants be advised of their right of appeal.

10.0
10.1

Recommendation
Whilst it is the investigating Officer’s view that there is a case in favour of the existence of public
footpath rights over the application route, and therefore a Definitive Map Modification Order
should be promoted, it is for the Authority to make its own decision, based upon the facts and
evidence before it.

Page 147

Index to Document Bundle

Tab

Document

1

Plan 1 – Location Plan and Schedule

2

DMMO Application Form

2-2

Public Maps and Photographic Evidence

2-3

User Evidence

3

Consultation Responses and Objections

Page 148

Page 149

Page 150

Page 151

Page 152

Page 153

Page 154

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Page 159

Page 160

Page 161

Page 162

Page 163

Page 164

Page 165

Page 166

Page 167

Page 168

Page 169

Page 170

Page 171

Page 172

Page 173

Page 174

Page 175

Page 176

Page 177

Page 178

Page 179

Page 180

Page 181

Page 182

Page 183

Page 184

Page 185

Page 186

Page 187

Page 188

Page 189

Page 190

Page 191

Page 192

Page 193

Page 194

Page 195

Page 196

Page 197

Page 198

Page 199

Page 200

Page 201

Page 202

Page 203

Page 204

Page 205

Page 206

Page 207

Page 208

Page 209

Page 210

Page 211

Page 212

Page 213

Page 214

Page 215

Page 216

Page 217

Page 218

Page 219

Page 220

Page 221

Page 222

Page 223

Page 224

Page 225

Page 226

Page 227

Page 228

Page 229

Page 230

Page 231

Page 232

Page 233

Page 234

Page 235

Page 236

Page 237

Page 238

Page 239

Page 240

Page 241

Page 242

Page 243

